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Canada’s International Development Research 

Centre (IDRC) invests in high-quality research in 

developing countries, shares knowledge with 

researchers and policymakers for greater uptake 

and use, and mobilizes global alliances to build  

a more sustainable and inclusive world.

As part of Canada’s foreign affairs and development efforts, IDRC champions and funds research 
and innovation within and alongside developing regions to drive global change. We invest in 
research to build evidence, inform decisions and generate opportunities that promote an inclusive 
and sustainable world.

ON THE COVER 
Credit: International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology 
Lincy Osore demonstrates how black soldier flies are reared at a poultry and insect-rearing farm in Machakos, Kenya. The fly 
larvae are fed to chicken and pigs and the fly waste is used as fertilizer, which significantly reduce production costs. The farm is 
supported by Cultivate Africa’s Future Fund (CultiAF), a 10-year, $35 million partnership between IDRC and the Australian Centre 
for International Agricultural Research. 

Unless otherwise stated, all monetary amounts in this annual report are in Canadian dollars.

At 31 March 2022
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IDRC-supported PhD fellow 
Dora Rajonhson, from Madagascar, is 
conducting field research about the 
insect vectors of bat viruses in Thailand. 
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Introduction
This year we faced not only continuing challenges 
arising from the COVID-19 pandemic but the 
expanding effects of conflict, food insecurity 
and rising inflation. These compounding crises 
halted or even reversed progress made in poverty 
reduction and gender equality in many parts of 
the world. Advancing gender equality continues 
to be a central focus for IDRC and as this report 
shows, there are many examples of how research 
continues to provide evidence, innovation and 
learning to find new solutions to these challenges. 

In collaboration with partners across the Global South and 
around the world, IDRC supports research and science 
to build climate resilience, promote global health and 
education, create new pathways for sustainable and inclusive 
growth, advance gender equality and strengthen democratic 
governance. IDRC’s work in these and other areas for more 
than 50 years demonstrates the critical role that research, 
knowledge and innovation play in building a more inclusive 
and prosperous world. 

These efforts are guided by Strategy 2030, a 10-year strategic 
plan that leverages the Centre’s decades of impact and 
identifies where we can make the greatest contributions to 
advancing the United Nations’ 2030 Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs). 

Inequality and climate change create significant barriers to 
progress towards the SDGs. As part of Strategy 2030, we at 
IDRC use our expertise and networks to drive global scientific 
collaboration and action aimed at overcoming these barriers.

Strategy 2030 affirms IDRC’s vision for a more sustainable  
and inclusive world and commits the Centre to achieve this 
mission by:

1. Investing in high-quality research and innovation in
developing countries and enabling research organizations
and their stakeholders to address both their own and
global development challenges.

2. Sharing knowledge for greater uptake and use; increasing
the reach and impact of IDRC-supported research in
driving solutions; and influencing national, regional and
global development agendas, including by synthesizing
and communicating results.

3. Mobilizing alliances for impact; growing international
funding partnerships to expand available resources for
research for development; and developing enhanced
relationships with the private sector to expand the reach
of the research.
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An IDRC-supported project created an 
online course to raise awareness about 
coping strategies and to build connections 
among waste pickers.
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As the Centre concludes the first full year under Strategy 
2030, we will further strengthen alliances with new 
approaches to funding partnerships and private-sector 
engagement. Our communications efforts will reinforce 
knowledge-sharing and the recently launched reporting 
and evaluation framework will advance our ability to  
track progress.

Supporting research led by partners in the Global South 
is central to the vision of Strategy 2030. This model puts 
decision-making firmly in the hands of the people who are 
directly impacted by the work. In addition to solving pressing 
problems in their own countries, IDRC’s Southern research 
partners are developing solutions and generating new 
knowledge that resonates in Canada and globally. 

We looked at persistent global development gaps alongside 
the Centre’s past successes, contributions and partnerships  
to determine where IDRC could have the greatest impact.  
The five program areas that now shape IDRC’s work are listed 
here with examples of recent progress.

Climate-Resilient Food Systems 
According to the UN, almost 193 million people regularly 
experience food insecurity. IDRC-funded projects are helping 
to inform government strategies to mitigate the impact of 
future pandemics on the food supply chain and bolstering 
the resilience of Africa’s food systems. This research better 
equips populations to face crises such as extreme weather 
events and COVID-19.

Global Health 
Data from the World Health Organization shows that 
approximately 830 women die every day from preventable 
causes related to pregnancy and birth, with 99% of these 
deaths occurring in developing countries. The Ministry of 
Health in Tanzania recently adopted a six-month curriculum 
on comprehensive emergency obstetric neonatal care that 
was developed by an IDRC-supported research team. This 
is one of many ways the Innovating for Maternal and Child 
Health in Africa initiative is helping to ensure safe deliveries 
and better maternal and child outcomes in Africa. 

Education and Science 
The scarcity of women in the fields of science, technology, 
engineering and math (STEM) restricts innovation and 
prevents a more inclusive society. IDRC-funded research 
works to address discriminatory norms, institutions and 
practices that limit women’s advancement in these 
disciplines. This year the first UNESCO Chair in Haiti was 
awarded to the Institut des Sciences, des Technologies et des 
Études Avancées d’Haïti, which has grown in recent years 
thanks to IDRC grants that helped to establish it as the 
country’s leading source of doctorate and master’s degrees, 
many in science and technology, with particular efforts to 
support women. It is this kind of support for women in  
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A woman processes dried pineapple in Ghana. Advances in 
food systems are helping address food insecurity and improve 
incomes.

STEM that helps strengthen science systems and increases 
capacity in the Global South to address pressing social  
and economic challenges.

Democratic and Inclusive Governance
Data, evidence and policy innovations help governments 
deliver services effectively and without discrimination. 
Vulnerable people and communities — including women 
and girls — benefit from more inclusive, accountable and 
transparent governance.

For example, IDRC-supported evidence informed Thailand’s 
Ministry of Labour’s decisions to reduce social security 
contributions for informal workers and to provide access  
to ministerial rehabilitation centres. 

Sustainable Inclusive Economies 
Socially responsible businesses can play a major role in 
developing more inclusive economies. IDRC-supported 
research and outreach efforts are informing policies 
and regulations so they can have a triple impact (social, 
environmental and financial) on economic recovery in 
Latin America. For example, the Collective Interest Benefit 
Society Law in Peru was passed to ensure that triple 
impact businesses have a clear identity and legal form — 
designations that are expected to yield benefits as consumers 
increasingly consider their values when choosing products  
or services.

Strategy 2030 recognizes that persistent inequalities  
pose significant barriers to realizing the SDGs and reaffirms 
IDRC’s commitment to SDG 5: to achieve gender equality 
and empower all women and girls. With the Strategy as  
a framework, the 2021–2022 Annual Report highlights  
the Centre’s work over the past year in advancing gender  
equality — a priority area of our research investments  
and partnerships.
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Our year at a glance
Advancing gender equality, building  
a sustainable and inclusive world

Removing barriers to equality for women and girls is  
essential to building a more sustainable and inclusive 
world. Important progress has been made over the past 
decade — with more girls going to school, fewer forced into 
early marriage, and greater prevalence of women’s voices 
in shaping government policy around the world — but 
much more needs to be done. The major problems facing 
the world today — from climate change and conflict to 
looming economic crises, disease outbreaks and the ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic — compound the challenge and 
threaten to reverse recent gains. 

Delivering significant and sustainable change requires 
institutional and systemic transformations. Together with our 
partners, IDRC’s gender-transformative research tackles 
inequalities in ways that reflect the lived experiences of 
women and girls and promotes sustainable solutions that 
reduce barriers for women.

 � In the last five years, IDRC has invested over $82 million in 
gender-transformative research that addresses the root 
causes of gender inequality and the underlying power 
dynamics that perpetuate inequalities. This includes 
support to 122 projects in more than 60 countries.

 � In the 2021–2022 financial year alone, IDRC invested in 
38 gender-transformative projects, with funding support 
totalling more than $39 million.

This report shares initiatives and research results to advance 
gender equality in the following five areas that the Centre 
has identified as priorities. We recognize that inequalities exist 
across multiple and intersecting categories of identity such 
as age, ethnicity, ability, education, social status and more. By 
recognizing these factors, we ensure the research we fund 
addresses problems and generates solutions that include 
women, girls and other marginalized groups. 

1. Enhancing women’s economic empowerment 
Women face significant challenges in accumulating assets 
and pursuing better paid and more productive jobs. 
Deeply rooted and restrictive social norms and women’s 
dual roles as caregivers and breadwinners limit their 
choices and access to economic opportunities. IDRC’s 
investments in research that supports women’s economic 
advancement are helping to close the gender gap in the 
world of paid work.

2. Contributing to more inclusive governance 
A more inclusive world will only be achieved when 
women have equal opportunities in governance and 
other forms of leadership. Addressing the urgent 
challenges facing today’s world requires women’s 
participation in decision-making bodies at the local, 
national, and global scales. IDRC collaborates with 
partners to support gender-transformative research  
and to promote shared control of resources and  
decision-making. 

3. Closing the gender gap in science  
The low levels of women’s participation in the fields  
of science, technology, engineering and mathematics 
(STEM) reflects discriminatory norms, institutions and 
practices. These barriers not only limit the innovative ideas 
needed for economic growth and job creation, but they 
also hamper efforts to address pressing global challenges 
such as climate change and the spread of disease. IDRC-
funded research projects pursue solutions that support 
women’s education from K-12 through to postdoctoral 
research fellowships. 

4. Addressing gender inequality through healthcare 
Gender equality is also dependent on improving the 
access of women and girls to basic health services, 
including sexual and reproductive health. Inadequate 
healthcare is a major barrier to economic participation 
and leadership roles. Together with our partners, IDRC 
supports research initiatives that advance access to 
healthcare and enhance services that improve the health 
and well-being of women and girls. 

5. Strengthening women’s food security leadership 
When we advance gender equality, we can improve 
women’s ability to contribute to their own food security 
and that of their families and communities. IDRC invests 
in research that removes structural barriers to women’s 
leadership in food security and increases women’s 
control over land and access to agricultural technologies, 
financing, markets and climate information. 
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TOTAL IDRC INVESTMENTS ACROSS THE GLOBAL SOUTH

Together with our partners across the Global South, IDRC is pursuing an ambitious plan to make the world more sustainable  
and inclusive.

Headquartered in Ottawa, IDRC maintains five regional offices across the Global South. In 2021–2022, the total value of new 
projects (not limited to gender-focused initiatives) approved with IDRC and donor funds was $166.7 million, highlighted per 
region of investment below.

Value of new projects 
(in $ millions)

29
17.4% of total

Active 
projects

290

West and Central Africa

Value of new projects 
(in $ millions)

31.7
19.1% of total

Active  
projects

110

Latin America and the Caribbean

Value of new projects
(in $ millions)

19.6
11.7% of total

Active 
projects

95

Middle East and North Africa

Value of new projects
(in $ millions)

9.3
5.6% of total

Active  
projects

58

Asia

Value of new projects
(in $ millions)

27.4
16.4% of total

Active 
projects

92

Global 

OTTAWA

DAKAR

MONTEVIDEO

NAIROBI

NEW DELHI

AMMAN

Eastern and Southern Africa

Value of new projects
(in $ millions)

49.7
29.8% of total

Active  
projects

254

In 2021–2022, IDRC’s regional offices continued to support 
programming, track emerging issues, participate in outreach with 
key partners and researchers, and engage with Canadian missions. 
They led initiatives to highlight the importance of research and 
evidence-based solutions to inform public policy within their 
regions. They also promoted our focus on the impacts of COVID-19 
and climate change with a crosscutting gender lens.
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Message from the Chairperson  
Over a year ago, IDRC launched 
Strategy 2030 with a multi-
year commitment to find 
breakthrough solutions, put 
evidence into practice and 
mobilize alliances to address 
the most critical development 
challenges of our time. Strategy 
2030 expanded on the Centre’s 
unique mandate to invest in 
applied research and innovation 
in developing countries and to 

ensure the perspectives, experience and expertise of low- and 
middle-income countries inform global agendas. 

IDRC’s deep commitment to collaboration with researchers is 
yielding positive and inspiring results that encourage us and 
our peers to pursue new forms of partnership that strengthen 
evidence-based innovation across the Global South. 

Achieving the scale of impact reflected in Strategy 2030’s vision  
of a more sustainable and inclusive world requires transformative 
change. This year’s Annual Report focuses on gender equality 
and how gender-transformative research that promotes 
women’s empowerment can have far-reaching impact. 

This past year, the Board of Governors welcomed and 
congratulated the Honourable Harjit Sajjan on his 
appointment as Canada’s Minister of International 
Development. The Board and IDRC team look forward to 
supporting Minister Sajjan and contributing to Canada’s 
international priorities related to climate adaptation, food 
security and democratic governance, amongst others. 

This year was another challenging one for the Centre and its 
partners around the world. Under the guidance of President 
Jean Lebel and the senior management team, the Centre’s 
employees around the world continued to support the 
essential work of its research partners, forge new partnerships 
and advance pathbreaking work across its five areas of 
research focus: climate resilient food systems, global health, 
education and science, democratic and inclusive governance 
and sustainable inclusive economies. 

Throughout the year, the Board of Governors provided vital 
leadership to support the Centre’s implementation of Strategy 
2030 and navigation of a rapidly evolving external landscape 
shaped by the COVID-19 pandemic. The appointment of 
Hilary Rose as governor and the reappointments of governors 
Stephen Toope and Alex Awiti will strengthen the Board’s 
ability to provide strategic direction in the years to come. 

As my second term as Chairperson comes to a close, I 
would like to thank my fellow governors for their service 
and ongoing commitment to the Centre and welcome 
the incoming Board Chair, Dr. Dorothy Nyambi. Dr. Nyambi 
will bring deep experience, expertise and passion for 
international development to the work of the Centre. I wish 
her every success. 

I would also like to thank and pay tribute to the dedicated 
staff of the Centre, the superb management team and 
passionate leadership of President Jean Lebel. 

The world is facing overlapping and compounding 
challenges — the ongoing effects of COVID-19, the growing 
impact of climate change, economic head winds and debt 
challenges and a food security crisis to name just a few. 
These challenges are layering on top of persistent poverty, 
inequality and exclusion. The world’s poorest and most 
vulnerable in developing countries will continue to be the 
most adversely affected.

In this ever-changing and challenging global context, IDRC’s 
mission and its approach to Southern-led research and 
innovation are more critical and relevant than ever. I am 
confident that the Centre, with Strategy 2030’s ambitious 
objectives for research excellence, knowledge sharing and 
partnerships, is positioned to have an even greater positive 
impact in the years ahead. 

Margaret Biggs  
Chairperson 
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Message from the President   
The greatest challenges of our 
time — inequalities and climate 
change, the COVID-19 pandemic 
and now a food crisis, rampant 
inflation and an impending 
economic crisis — are unfolding 
at such a scale that we are 
compelled as a global community 
to substantially strengthen the 
role of research in and from the 
Global South.

Efforts to meet the magnitude of these challenges are 
constrained by the under-representation of voices from  
the Global South in research and knowledge ecosystems.  
We are working closely with partners worldwide to  
advocate for the value of Southern research and researchers 
at every stage of the research planning, funding and 
implementation processes.

IDRC’s Strategy 2030 identifies inequalities and climate 
change as the biggest hurdles to the achievement of the 
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals. 

Overcoming inequalities, especially those related to gender, 
are fundamental to a sustainable future. However, decades 
of progress are under threat due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Evidence-based solutions, and the researchers who create 
them, are fundamental to overcoming the longstanding, 
systemic and deeply entrenched barriers that impede half  
the world’s population from reaching their full potential.

Researchers Hafsa Afailal and Muzna Dureid are inspiring 
examples of the dedicated and talented people working 
tirelessly to build and protect inclusive, democratic spaces. 
Their work on the digital security of women human rights 
defenders, activists and peacebuilders in Syria and Yemen  
was recognized through the IDRC’s Women, Peace and 
Security Research Awards, an award program that aligns  
with the Government of Canada’s commitment to the 
National Action Plan on Women, Peace and Security.

As for climate change, it increasingly and disproportionately 
affects the world’s most vulnerable people. There is a critical 
need for systems-level, action-oriented research to enable a 
more climate-resilient future. 

IDRC is proud to partner with the UK’s Foreign, 
Commonwealth and Development Office on the Climate 
Adaptation and Resilience Initiative, also known as 
CLARE, which uses research to build resilience, address 
knowledge gaps and boost the climate crisis response 
across the Global South. For example, CLARE funding 
helped produce the strongest-ever Africa regional chapter 
of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change’s Sixth 
Assessment Report by synthesizing and incorporating African 
evidence in the report. This helped overcome a longstanding 
challenge, whereby excellent evidence too often remains 
outside the world of peer-reviewed journals and is therefore 
not cited in influential spheres. The success and influence 
of this support send a clear message to donors about the 
significant and long-term impact they can achieve through 
similar investments.

The success of the first full year of Strategy 2030 
implementation is a testimony to the tremendous 
commitment, resilience and innovation of IDRC  
employees who continue to adapt to the pandemic’s many 
and far-reaching effects on how we work. IDRC’s Board of 
Governors provides invaluable leadership and strategic 
guidance in support of IDRC’s mandate, annual priorities  
and Strategy 2030.

Launched amid a global pandemic, Strategy 2030 has risen  
to the occasion and proven to be a guiding light for IDRC.  
In many ways, that is a testament to the foresight and 
leadership of outgoing Chairperson Margaret Biggs. Her 
vision and dedication inspire IDRC’s global network of 
employees, partners and grantees and have positioned  
IDRC well for the road ahead.

Jean Lebel, PhD 
President
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Investing in empowerment and change
At a time when we are facing significant global challenges, 
this year’s Annual Report introduces us to a South African 
chemical engineer who built a Southern-based knowledge-
brokering network. We also meet a postdoctoral fellow who 
is exploring a Yucatan-grown pepper’s potential for healthy 
agricultural by-products and a microbiologist in Bangladesh 
who is working on a vaccine for foot and mouth disease  
that could potentially prevent major losses of cattle. These 
women share their stories of overcoming barriers and  
seizing opportunities, with support from IDRC-funded 
research projects. 

They are among millions of women across the Global South 
facing greater obstacles to the labour market and earning 
less than men when they do participate. Their access to basic 
health services, sexual and reproductive health and rights, 
quality education and other essential public services is often 
constrained. The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated these 
challenges over the past two years. 

How people experience gender inequality within households, 
organizations and communities reflects how different 
social systems and structures are designed, negotiated 
and implemented. Influencing positive change means 
confronting the underlying norms and systems at the root 
of gender-based inequalities. Sustainable change requires 
institutional and systemic transformations. 

Achieving a more sustainable and inclusive world requires 
focused attention and meaningful action to address 
barriers to economic participation, basic healthcare, quality 
education, sexual and reproductive health, and policymaking. 

IDRC-funded research seeks gender-transformative change — 
deep social change that can only be achieved by addressing 
the root causes of gender inequality; change that stretches 
from the individual to the societal level. Our collaborative 
work with partners across the Global South addresses the 

intersectionality of gender inequality with other types of 
inequality, including those connected to social class, sexual 
identity and religion. 

The Centre’s progress on efforts to advance gender equality 
in 2021–2022, during the continued turbulence of the 
global pandemic, speaks to the resilience, responsiveness 
and strength of our employees, networks and partner 
organizations. Their work will be further supported by 
the recently launched Gender Equality and Inclusion 
Programming Framework, which is designed to ensure 
gender equality is intentional and systematic across IDRC.

Our North-South research collaborations, with projects  
often led by researchers and teams in the Global South, 
continue to yield mutually beneficial findings. In some cases, 
this work scales up earlier IDRC-supported research for 
greater impact, such as with the second phase of the Growth 
and Economic Opportunities for Women (GrOW 2) program. 
Leveraging the original GrOW project’s research success, this 
phase aims to spur transformative change in the world of 
work, with a focus on gender segregation, unpaid care and 
women’s collective agency.

IDRC initiatives like GrOW 2 are central to Canada’s 
international efforts in advancing gender equality. They 
also reflect the federal government’s Feminist International 
Assistance Policy, which supports global efforts to eradicate 
poverty by addressing inequality. 

When women and girls are empowered to reach their full 
potential, their achievements and contributions benefit 
the economic growth of their communities and countries. 
Gender-transformative research helps us get there. The 
projects highlighted in this report make a difference in the 
lives of women and girls today and lay the foundation for a 
brighter future for all. 
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Influencing positive change 
means confronting the 
underlying norms and systems 
at the root of gender-based 
inequalities. Sustainable 
change requires institutional 
and systemic transformations.
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Enhancing women’s  
economic empowerment
All too often, women’s tremendous potential to contribute 
to economic development is unrealized. They spend more 
time on unpaid domestic and care work, they are under-
represented in economic and political decision-making, they 
lack access to decent employment, and they face gender 
wage gaps. 

Progress towards the United Nations’ Sustainable 
Development Goal 5 (SDG 5), which seeks to achieve  
gender equality and empower all women and girls, was 
lagging even before the onset of COVID-19. The pandemic 
is exacerbating existing gender inequalities and has already 
reversed progress made on several fronts. For example, it has 
led to significant employment loss for women and a rapid 
increase in unpaid care work, adding to the responsibilities 
already being shouldered primarily by women and girls. 
Economic inequalities are especially prevalent for displaced 
and other marginalized women.  

Evidence review of the global childcare  
crisis and the road for post-COVID-19 
recovery and resilience 
Despite being key to human well-being and the functioning 
of the economy, care work remains unrecognized, under-
valued and predominantly performed by women and girls 

the world over. The pandemic increased the demand for  
care work, especially the care of children, and exacerbated 
gender inequalities.

This study of the global childcare crisis found that those 
most affected were women in informal employment with 
no paid leave, social protection or ability to work remotely; 
women living in rural areas with limited access to time- and 
labour-saving equipment, public services and infrastructure; 
women living in poverty; single mothers; essential workers; 
adolescent girls; and women belonging to minority racial 
and ethnic groups. Project partners include the Bill & Melinda 
Gates Foundation; the Initiative for What Works to Advance 
Women and Girls in the Economy; and childcare experts at 
civil society organizations, multilateral institutions, universities 
and research institutes around the world.

Released in 2021, the report calls for action in three areas:

 � unpaid care work must be recognized, reduced  
and redistributed;

 � paid care work must be supported through public  
and private financing for the childcare sector, including 
support for workers; and

 � care workers’ representation with employers and the  
state must be guaranteed.

The report’s recommendations propose a comprehensive 
childcare agenda and recognition of quality childcare as  
a societal responsibility, as opposed to women’s  
responsibility alone.
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Domestic workers 
protest in Geneva, 
Switzerland.
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Informal workers and COVID-19:  
evidence-based responses to the crisis  
at the base of the economic pyramid 
Over 90% of workers in developing countries are informally 
employed, with higher rates of informal employment 
for women. While the impact of the pandemic has been 
catastrophic for these workers, the evidence needed to 
inform a policy response, especially during the recovery 
phase, is lacking. Led by Women in Informal Employment: 
Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), this project focuses on 
the impact of COVID-19 and associated lockdowns on the 
livelihoods and health of poor workers, especially women,  
in the informal economy. 

In mid-2021, WIEGO and its partners re-interviewed 1,391 
respondents (87.5% of the sample) and new respondents to 
measure longer-term impacts of the pandemic on domestic 
workers, home-based workers, street vendors and waste 
pickers across five continents. The findings will inform policies 
and actions required to address impacts of the pandemic and 
shine a light on how existing responses affect inequalities. 
The research has found that:

 � most respondents have not fully recovered their  
ability to work; 

 � earnings are still well below pre-pandemic levels; 

 � home-based workers are still the hardest hit sector;

 � relief supports are not increasing and may be  
declining; and

 � the crisis has forced workers into damaging survival 
strategies, such as reducing spending on food.  

Connecting waste pickers 

With IDRC support, WIEGO created an online course 
in Brazil to raise awareness about COVID-19 protocols, 
decent work, coping strategies and organizing. 
Another objective was to build lasting connections 
among waste pickers in Latin America. One of the 
achievements was building new, trusting relationships 
among organized and autonomous workers and 
partners — relationships that can form the foundation 
of future collective action.

“I feel represented by [WIEGO] and this journey of 
learning has been gratifying, of exchanging ideas,  
not only about what we endure. These are the things 
that can help a waste picker feel valued, to make the 
work more decent.”

— non-organized waste picker in Brazil

“Informal workers are earning less than before 
the pandemic; they are in debt and quietly 
going hungry. The old solutions are not working. 
Governments need to summon the courage 
to chart a new way forward with employment 
strategies that deliver protections for all workers 
and compel capital to do its part.”

— Sally Roever, International Coordinator, WIEGO
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Raquel Martinez has been a 
domestic worker in Mexico 
City for the past 25 years. 
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Promoting a transformative care economy  
through impact investing  
The economic crisis generated by COVID-19 revealed and 
exacerbated the disproportionate responsibility for unpaid 
care work that women, especially the poorest and most 
marginalized, continue to bear. For paid care workers, more 
than 90% women, it further showed the precariousness of 
working conditions.

The scale of transformation that is necessary in the care 
economy, including childcare and eldercare, requires 
investments from both the public and private sectors. This 
initiative, announced as a commitment at the Generation 
Equality Forum, is generating knowledge and an evidence 
base to mobilize capital and impact investors to address 
the care economy’s challenges in emerging markets. It is 
informing strategies so that care-economy enterprises can  
meet their resource needs and build partnerships that will 
advance business model innovation and investment.

Care Economy Knowledge Hub 

The Care Economy Knowledge Hub aims to transform 
the care economy by identifying, documenting and 
amplifying market-based solutions that:

 � Recognize domestic and care work
 � Reduce the time dedicated to domestic and care work
 � Reward the services provided by domestic and care 

workers and improve their work conditions
 � Redistribute unpaid domestic and care activities to 

men in the home or to a third party (public or private) 

The objective is to stimulate growth and investment in 
market-based solutions to care economy challenges in 
Southeast Asia, sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America.

One such solution provider is Homely, a digital platform 
that connects the supply and demand for care work. 
This on-demand-based marketplace is an easier, faster 
and safer way to connect professional trusted care and 

domestic workers with users needing services at their 
homes or offices. It seeks to enhance the quality of jobs 
for care and domestic workers, who receive legal and 
social benefits. Homely’s mission is to provide the tools for 
the economic independence of millions of domestic and 
care workers.  

Operational in 11 major Mexican cities, Homely provides 
dignified jobs for more than 7,000 care workers. With 
plans to expand to Colombia, their goal is to eventually 
reach millions. 

“My grandmother came to Ciudad de Mexico from one of 
the poorest states in the country, and she had no choice 
but to be a domestic worker. It took two generations for us 
to have a chance for economic independence. We want to 
change that.”

— Melina Cruz, Homely co-founder and CEO
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Marina Muthoni Nanavio and her three-year-old son at a childcare centre in Nairobi, Kenya. An IDRC-supported project found that 
access to subsidized childcare improves women’s income-earning potential in the paid labour force.
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Contributing to more  
inclusive governance
Urgent crises, including COVID-19 and climate change, 
demonstrate the need for women to be positioned at  
the centre of solutions that are innovative, sustainable  
and inclusive.

IDRC supports gender-transformative research that works 
to increase opportunities for women in leadership at all 
levels of decision-making in political, economic and public 
life. Gender-transformative research promotes women’s 
empowerment, including shared control of resources and 
decision-making, and analyzes social inequalities. It provides 
space for women to contribute and learn and engages with 
people across the socio-economic spectrum to change 
norms that enable inequalities.

Closing the Justice Gap:  
addressing police abuse in Malawi
Globally, there is a growing justice gap: more than half  
of the world’s population is excluded from the opportunities 
the law provides, and 1.5 billion people cannot access 
support to resolve justice problems. Through IDRC’s Closing 
the Justice Gap initiative, launched in 2021, the Centre is 
funding a people-centred examination of community-based 
justice approaches to strengthen democracy and protect 
human rights.  

Among projects funded in 2021–2022 is a study of legal 
empowerment approaches to address police abuse in 
Malawi, where arbitrary arrests are often used by police to 
target vulnerable people, including sex workers, vendors, 
children who live and work on the streets, people who beg 
and people with disabilities. These people are often arrested 
and face various nuisance charges such as loitering, soliciting 
and disturbing the peace. This project studies the arbitrary 
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Researchers examine a map of Nairobi’s Mukuru slum. IDRC supports research on legal empowerment strategies to address 
growing justice gaps and to promote vibrant civic spaces. Activists succeeded in having the settlement designated as a special 
planning area, the first step in a process that could help transform the slum and the lives of its 300,000 residents. 
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arrest of the poor and marginalized, including analysis of root 
causes and differing experiences between genders, income 
levels and ethnic backgrounds. It examines the potential of 
using legal-empowerment approaches to translate grassroots 
efforts into improvements in broader law, policies and 
institutional practices. 

Strengthening climate-change governance 
through integrating gender-responsive 
climate action in Namibia 
Launched in 2019, this project integrates climate change into 
gender and rural development programming in Namibia. 
The IDRC-supported Climate and Development Knowledge 
Network (CDKN) helped the University of Namibia work with 
the Ministries of Gender and Rural Development to improve 
the integration of climate risks into their project portfolios. 

In collaboration with the Namibia project team, CDKN 
developed a range of communications materials in local 
languages, including a documentary film, to raise awareness 
about climate change impacts among regional council 
offices and parliamentarians. Officials learned how to use a 
tool that assesses risk to understand local and district-level 
vulnerability and to identify specific community and women-
led projects to support in the Oshana region. The Oshana 
district is a semi-arid region expected to be heavily impacted 
by climate change. The tool was developed in an earlier 
phase of this project; this CDKN work seeks to ensure it has 
maximum impact. 

Led by the University of Namibia, this project builds on work 
by the IDRC-funded Adaptation at Scale in Semi-Arid Regions 
project since 2014. 

Project outcomes include:

 � Based on the successes in Oshana and Omusati, Namibia’s 
environment commissioner requested that the process 
be scaled to the remaining 12 regions of the country.

 � An animation on the impacts of a 2°C increase for 
different regions, as well as adaptation responses, was 
presented to Namibia’s Parliament in June 2021. 

 � Regional leadership is increasingly engaged in the 
climate issue. For example, the governor of the Oshana 
Regional Council requested CDKN support in producing 
awareness-raising announcements on local radio stations.

“As a ministry, we cannot fulfill our mandate and objectives that we have set ourselves if we are doing 
it alone. So various projects such as this one, CDKN, have really helped us to achieve our objectives.”

— Paulus Ashili, Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Tourism, Namibia

Inclusive, equitable leadership

Shehnaaz Moosa, a South African chemical engineer, 
led the Africa programming of CDKN from 2010 
to 2018. When IDRC became a co-funder, along 
with the Netherlands’ Directorate-General for 
International Cooperation, Moosa was invited to 
take over global leadership of the organization. This 
involved fundamentally changing CDKN’s approach 
to supporting evidence-based climate action. Moosa 
rose to the occasion, offering her own take on what 
leadership means: equality and inclusivity. She 
dedicated time to building strong relationships of 
mutual trust and respect. Under Moosa’s leadership, 
CDKN has evolved into a highly effective and unique 
knowledge broker, one that an external evaluator 
said occupies a niche as the only globally recognized 
Southern-based network that works from local to 
global levels. 

“IDRC’s support and confidence in my leadership 
has given me the opportunity to build a Southern-
based knowledge-brokering network that is globally 
recognized for its reach and impact… On a personal 
level, the global climate change space (a space that is 
difficult to enter without existing personal networks) 
has opened up remarkably for me as a woman of 
colour and this is all thanks to the opportunity I was 
given to lead CDKN.”  

— Shehnaaz Moosa
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Feminist Open Government Initiative
The Open Government Partnership (OGP) is an international 
platform committed to making governments more 
accountable and responsive to citizens. In partnership with 
IDRC, OGP started the Feminist Open Government Initiative 
in 2019 to encourage governments and partners to increase 
gender actions in their open government commitments. 
These efforts sparked research, reflections and reforms that 
are transforming the role of women and LGBTQIA+ people in 
the open government movement. 

As a result, more action plans launched in 2020 and 2021 
incorporated gender and inclusion commitments that build 
on the evidence and guidance provided by the initiative. 
Today, 25 OGP member countries are implementing 106 
inclusion commitments related to gender and inclusion. 

Addressing equality of opportunity  
in Argentina

Argentina, an OGP member, committed to co-creating 
a national plan to address equality of opportunity 
with citizens. The government published data on 
women’s unemployment rates, the gender pay gap, 
hours spent on unpaid work by women, and gender-
based violence. The intention is for citizens to be 
better equipped to address gender inequality in their 
country. Argentina furthered their commitment by 
conducting a gender review on their 2019–2022 open 
government action plan.
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Members of JusLab march at an event in 
Buenos Aires, Argentina. This open justice 
initiative, recognized by the OGP Leaders  
Network, takes a local approach to the  
global lack of judicial transparency.
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Closing the gender gap  
in science
Investing in the education of women and girls is vital to 
building more sustainable and inclusive communities 
and countries. While the proportion of women in tertiary 
education is growing, women still lag in the fields of science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics. This gap reflects 
structural barriers arising from discriminatory norms, 
institutions and practices, which often drive women to leave 
their careers as scientists. As well, a lack of female scientists in 
leadership positions deprives countries of a significant body 
of ideas that, if tapped, could contribute to innovation and 
more gender-inclusive science and policies. 

Supporting women’s leadership  
in science, technology and innovation 
through early-career fellowships 
Since 2017, this early-career fellowships program has 
supported more than 200 female doctoral students and 
scientists in low- and middle-income countries. This 
programming increased the knowledge and raised the 
visibility of these women scientists by expanding their 
opportunities to collaborate with industry and other 
researchers outside their institutions, according to a mid-
term evaluation. The project, led by the Organization for 
Women in Science for the Developing World (OWSD), also 
strengthened the research infrastructure and the teaching 
and mentoring available for students within participating 
institutions. By enabling promising female scientists to further 
progress in their own careers and assume greater leadership 
responsibilities, science systems will evolve to better support 

Bangladeshi microbiologist working 
on vaccine for foot and mouth disease 

Munawar Sultana leads her own research group at 
the Microbial Genetics and Bioinformatics Lab at the 
University of Dhaka in Bangladesh. She studies foot 
and mouth disease, an extremely contagious virus that 
can cause major losses in cattle and other livestock. 
Supported by the OWSD Early Career fellowship, she 
developed a much-needed locally produced vaccine 
for the virus because, although foreign vaccines are 
available, they are costly to import. 

Sultana also developed the basis for an affordable 
and easy-to-use diagnostic kit for detecting the virus 
and then partnered with a local company to produce 
and market the vaccine and diagnostic kit. Greater 
availability of the test and vaccine could lower costs 
for farmers. 

The OWSD fellowship has also made other funders 
aware of her promising research, which has helped her 
secure additional grants. 

“This has helped me a lot in gaining visibility as a 
scientist, as a researcher. The OWSD fellowship has 
given me wings, so that I can fly up to the level where I 
want to be.”  

— Munawar Sultana
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Esperance Munganyika (right) is an early-career scientist investigating viruses that affect passionfruit plants in Rwanda. She 
was supported by the women’s leadership in science, technology and innovation early-career fellowships. 



IDRC ANNUAL REPORT 2021–202216

the next generation of female scientists. Equally important 
is the opportunity for these scientists to access funding and 
pursue lines of research that can help to solve many of the 
problems faced by developing countries and global society 
at large. 

In 2020 alone, 23 fellowships were awarded to advance 
important work ranging from the study of genetic risk factors 
for breast cancer in Ghanaian women to the development of 
drought-resistant rice varieties in Sri Lanka.

Supporting Indigenous women in science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics 
careers in Mexico and Central America
This project supports the advancement of Indigenous 
women in STEM careers in Mexico through fellowships 
for professional development, mentoring and networking 
opportunities. The approach seeks to expose and respond 
to the overlapping marginalization and inequality that this 
group traditionally faces due to their gender and ethnicity. 
The project enabled Indigenous women to contribute to the 
development of their communities through research and 
training in STEM fields and has shed light on pathways for 
Indigenous women to pursue and sustain STEM careers in 
Mexico and Guatemala. 

Funded in partnership with Mexico’s Consejo Nacional  
de Ciencia y Tecnologia, the project has supported  
12 Indigenous women (representing seven Indigenous 
groups) through prestigious postdoctoral fellowships.  
This has allowed them to pursue leading-edge work in  
six STEM disciplines. Many of these women are now  
members of Mexico’s National System of Researchers,  
thanks in large part to their fellowships. Membership  
provides recognition or certification to researchers at 

the national level through peer evaluation, validating the 
quality of their scientific contribution. The fellowships have 
also provided opportunities to improve skills and undertake 
research abroad.

Breaking barriers: understanding obstacles 
facing women in STEM in the Global South
According to UNESCO, less than 30% of the world’s 
researchers are women. Research has already produced 
evidence of systemic barriers that prevent women scientists 
from advancing, but data and case studies are primarily 
drawn from high-income countries. In 2020, IDRC announced 
funding for 10 research teams to increase understanding  
of the unique obstacles for women and other vulnerable 
groups in low- and middle-income countries. The studies  
are generating evidence on how to improve gender  
equality and diversity in science, technology, engineering  
and mathematics.

Five teams in Latin America are measuring gender gaps in 
academia, green energy and other technology sectors. In 
sub-Saharan Africa, five research teams are leading a variety 
of projects, including a study of the factors that shape the 
recruitment and advancement of women scientists across  
the private and public sector. 

Unlocking agricultural opportunities 

Research fellow Lilian Dolores is evaluating the 
potential of agricultural by-products of a habanero-
type pepper, cultivated in Yucatan, as a source of 
bioactive compounds with benefits for human  
health and their possible inclusion in food.

The project responds to the growing demand for 
healthy foods, where plant products containing 
bioactive compounds are a promising alternative  
for the food industry. 

“This program is an excellent opportunity because it 
allows us to train ourselves and most importantly it 
inspires us to help the development of our communities.”  

— Lilian Dolores

Removing barriers and promoting 
green industries in Colombia   

This project assesses women’s participation in 
science and technology programs and will identify 
organizational factors that affect enrolment and 
retention, as well as women’s recruitment and 
advancement in green industries (which seek to 
minimize their impact on the environment). It will 
develop and implement strategies to increase 
women’s leadership in the science and technology 
fields of Colombia’s green industries and design an 
outreach strategy to support greater participation  
and advancement of women in these occupations.

Project leader and principal investigator Paola Vásquez, 
a professor in the Department of Environmental 
Sciences at the Universidad Autónoma de Occidente 
in Colombia, studies sustainable production and 
circular economy in micro-, small- and medium-sized 
enterprises, the role of women in greening industries, 
cleaner production and organizational learning,  
and the integration and institutionalization of  
cleaner production in small-scaled industries in 
developing countries.
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Addressing gender inequality 
through healthcare
Enhancing healthcare for women and girls is a vital part 
of advancing gender equality. The potential for women 
to contribute to society is severely limited by inadequate 
healthcare, yet women and girls often lack access to basic 
health services, sexual and reproductive health and rights, 
and other essential public services. Progress in addressing 
barriers to adequate healthcare over the past decade, 
especially for those from marginalized groups, is threatened 
by the additional hardships caused by COVID-19. 

Multisectoral approaches to early  
pregnancy prevention in colleges in Togo
Pregnancy prevention among teens in schools is a  
major concern in West Africa. In Togo, 17% of girls aged  
15 to 19 have already given birth, and these early  
pregnancies have many adverse effects on the teens,  
their families and their communities.

This project reinforced the skills of community members  
and stakeholders in the education, health and legal systems 
to help implement effective strategies for the multisectoral 
fight against early pregnancies in Togo. Between 2018 and 
2021, the project targeted eight secondary schools, which 
saw an 80% decrease in teenage pregnancy. The initiative 
is now being scaled up with a new project that targets 250 
schools in 50 communes of Togo with the goal of reducing 
the prevalence of teenage pregnancy by at least 50%.

“In my opinion, I would say that the students at our 
college are beginning to become aware of the harms 
of early pregnancy in the school environment. Most 
are now fighting for their future. They now know 
what they came to school for. Nowadays, many 
students do not want to have early pregnancies 
while they are in school. This project has helped our 
community a lot. In past years, many students got 
married, but this year, that is not the case.”

— 15-year-old student commenting  
on changes stemming from this project
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Dr. Oluwafemi Ogunrayi conducts a 
check-up during an antenatal visit at 
Okpekpe Community Primary Health 
Centre in Edo State, Nigeria. The 
health centre worked with IMCHA 
researchers to generate evidence to 
improve maternal, newborn and  
child health outcomes in the country. 
This project identified supply and 
demand factors that influence access 
to maternal healthcare services,  
especially for rural women. 
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Changing gender norms to improve  
maternal and child health 
Maternal death rates in sub-Saharan Africa have dropped 
almost 40% since 2000, yet the region still has the highest 
number of maternal deaths, at 533 deaths per 100,000 live 
births. Poverty, low education levels, violence against women, 
early marriage and adolescent pregnancy continue to mark 
the lives of many women and contributes to their poor health 
and high mortality.

Recognizing this challenge, the Innovating for Maternal 
and Child Health in Africa (IMCHA) research teams and 
their partners in communities and government have 
found practical, scalable ways of empowering women and 
persuading men to improve their support for women’s health. 
In Mara, Tanzania, for example, a research team turned to 
the community first to understand why women do not use 
available prenatal and postnatal services and to identify what 
could be done to change this reality. 

Through focus group discussions with women and men, 
researchers determined that a lack of knowledge about the 
services and their importance, combined with traditional 
gender roles, were significant barriers. Led by the Shirati 
District Hospital in Tanzania, in collaboration with the Bruyère 
Research Institute, University of Ottawa, the research shows 
that the community itself can play a role in addressing these 
barriers. Community members participated in designing 
strategies to overcome barriers, including educating the 

community about the importance of skilled healthcare 
assistance before, during and after pregnancy, and promoting 
men’s engagement in women’s and children’s health.

The research team trained 89 community health workers (46 
women and 43 men) to deliver prevention messages through 
locally popular methods such as songs, poems and dramas. 
Using these forms of communication to change behaviours 
was well received in most of the villages. 

The project improved accessibility to family planning choices 
from 40% at the intervention sites in 2017 to 45% across the 
district in 2018 and then to 52% in 2021.

“As soon as we started singing, dancing, and 
reciting poems, the attendance at the meetings 
increased significantly.”

— a women’s group member in Kilolo District

“In the past it was not easy for women to speak in 
the meetings, but now we see women speaking 
confidently and even asking questions.”

— a village executive officer

Nurse Mary Ogun takes a pregnant 
client’s blood pressure during an 
examination in Edo State, Nigeria.
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Strengthening women’s  
food security leadership  

Gender inequalities often undermine women’s ability to 
contribute to the food security and nutritional well-being of 
their families and communities. This includes unequal access 
to and control over land, agricultural technologies, financing, 
markets and climate information. Gender-transformative 
research aims to build social attitudes, behaviours and 
structures that support gender equality for people and 
communities, thus increasing food security.

Cultivating Africa’s Future
Cultivate Africa’s Future Fund (CultiAF) projects are helping 
to increase incomes and improve nutrition in sub-Saharan 
Africa, where agricultural productivity is the lowest in the 
world. This research pursues practical solutions to persistent 
problems of food insecurity through development research.

The 10-year, $35 million partnership between IDRC and the 
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research 
supports women and youth to develop resilience in 
agricultural value chains by adopting improved agricultural 
technologies and digital innovations, accessing finance, and 
building entrepreneurship and business skills.

The partnership leverages the strengths and resources of 
each organization to improve food and nutrition security, 
resilience, and gender equality across eastern and southern 
Africa. CultiAF funds have helped develop and scale up 
sustainable, climate-resilient and gender-responsive 
innovations for smallholder agricultural producers.

Research teams from Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, 
Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe are leading CultiAF-funded 
projects across four broad research themes:

 � increasing productivity and reducing post-harvest losses;

 � linking agriculture, nutrition and human health;

 � gender equality; and

 � climate change and agricultural water management.

Insect farming boosts chicken production 

In Kenya, women and youth have been able to sustain 
their income from insect farming despite the ravages of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Roseanne Mwangi, who produces 
between 700 kg and one tonne of black soldier fly larvae 
every week, feeds the insects directly to her chickens and 
pigs. She reports that “within two months, our chickens 
weigh 800 grams more and appear huge compared to 
layers and broilers in the market.” She sells her chickens 
for 900 Kenyan shillings (about $10) each. Insect farmers 
are also reducing their production costs because they no 
longer need to purchase costly, imported animal feeds 
for their livestock. Women farmers are benefiting from 
training in the production of fertilizer using fly feces (frass) 
generated during the larvae-rearing process. The frass 
fertilizer has been found to increase maize grain yields by 
27% when compared to commercial organic fertilizer.

“The integrated farming method has been remarkable. 
The insects and chickens are interdependent — the black 
soldier fly feeds on chicken manure and, once the insects 
mature, we feed them to the chickens. There is zero waste, 
which is one of our missions on the farm as we push for 
sustainable and greener communities.”

— Doreen Mbaya Ariwi, commercial poultry and insect  
farmer and proprietor of Bugs Life Protein Limited Company
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CultiAF projects are providing practical solutions 
to food insecurity in sub-Saharan Africa.
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Global cooperation for climate action: 
Southern engagement with climate 
negotiations and commitments 2020–2023
Many countries in the Global South are struggling to meet 
commitments to limit global warming, especially given the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and continuing development 
challenges. This project, also called Impulsouth, seeks to 
increase the knowledge and capacities of six developing 
countries (four in Africa and two in Latin America and the 
Caribbean) to enhance climate action in a way that will be 
reflected at the 2023 global stocktaking under the 2015 Paris 
Agreement. It supports tailor-made participatory research 
syntheses of knowledge and capacities for each of the six 
countries; is training 84 young leaders on implementing 
and reporting progress of national climate action; and is 
consolidating the capacities of 24 young specialist leaders, 
at least 60% of whom are women, to lead, advise and 
communicate in the transition to a low-carbon economy. 
It will also secure the participation and engagement 
of researchers and practitioners from the Global South, 
particularly women leaders, in international climate forums, 
including the UNFCCC Conference of Parties (COPs 26 to 28). 

In 2021, the project took bold steps in building a network 
of partners and framing a collective agenda of action. The 
six countries faced a challenge in assessing the impacts, 
vulnerabilities and risks of climate change. In response, 
Impulsouth launched a unique, multi-country research 
process that will further characterize the needs and gaps of 
capacities and knowledge in this area and provide guidance 
for assertive research and capacity-building.

Financing the future of fish:  
Malawi fish-processing  
technologies project

Evidence from this Malawi fisheries project showed 
that improved fish-processing technologies, namely 
improved smoking kilns and solar tent dryers, could 
significantly reduce post-harvest fish losses, estimated 
at 34%, and improve supply and consumption for 
those dependent on fish as an affordable source of 
dietary nutrition and for livelihoods. The improved 
kiln doubles the shelf life of the smoked fish while the 
solar tent drier reduces physical damage by 24% and 
quality loss by 15%. 

However, adoption of these technologies was limited 
by lack of access to financial capital and appropriate 
fish markets. Women, who are the majority actors in 
fish processing, were less willing to pay to own the 
improved fish-processing technologies than men and 
were more risk averse and therefore less likely to make 
decisions in financial markets than men. Other results 
showed that women in fishing communities were less 
empowered than women in non-fishing communities.

To overcome these challenges, the project developed 
and tested a gender-responsive business model 
for scaling improved fish-processing technologies. 
Collaborating with a commercial bank, the project 
developed a women-friendly commercial bank loan 
package that charged women an interest rate that 
was 2% lower than that of men. To empower women 
in fishing communities, gender-transformative 
approaches were applied, including the training of 36 
gender champions that helped to popularize these 
approaches among 319 fish processors (196 female 
and 123 male). These innovations have provided 
women with leadership opportunities in the fish-
processing industry that they never had before. For 
instance, women who were previously financially 
excluded due to lack of collateral were able to access 
commercial loans. 

Assessing vulnerabilities in the 
Dominican Republic and Madagascar 

The Dominican Republic and Madagascar are two of 
the most vulnerable countries to the adverse effects of 
climate change. Impulsouth works with local scientists 
to assess capacity needs and gaps for vulnerability 
assessments in the context of the upcoming global 
stocktake of the Paris Agreement. In the case of 
Madagascar, the research is focused on the water 
sector in the city of Antananarivo, which is threatened 
by more frequent and intensive droughts and floods. 
Results will support climate response in an area where 
approximately three million people live. In the case of 
the Dominican Republic, the focus is on coastal areas 
that host around 28% of the total population. Both 
research projects include an emphasis on women and 
youth capacities and participation.
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A woman uses a solar-powered tent to dry fish in Malawi. 
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Climate-smart villages as a platform to 
resilience, women’s empowerment, equity 
and sustainable food systems
Climate change threatens food security around the world and 
there is an urgent need to make food systems more resilient 
to climate fluctuations. Globally, millions of small-scale 
farmers, already burdened by food and nutritional insecurity, 
are experiencing the effects of increased climate variability 
and unpredictability, including the increased frequency and 
severity of extreme climatic events such as droughts, floods, 
storms and hail. These weather-related events are further 
exacerbated by a high incidence of pests and disease, all 
linked to climate change. Responding to these challenges 
requires transformational change that embraces the 
development of more inclusive, resilient and sustainable food 
systems, with special attention to small and marginalized 
farmers, while helping to reduce gender inequalities.

Climate-smart villages, which promote climate-smart 
agriculture using local adaptation platforms, are widely 
claimed to enhance resilience to climate change. However, 
sustainability is still a challenge despite these platforms being 
operational in more than 1,000 sites in Africa, Asia and Latin 
America. Now, with growing interest in scaling up climate-
smart agriculture, there is an urgent need to enhance the 
evidence base.

This project used multidisciplinary research methods 
and comparative studies in Cambodia, Myanmar and the 
Philippines to generate evidence and new knowledge on 
the role of locally relevant platforms, such as climate-smart 
villages, in supporting gender-responsive climate change 
adaptation in agriculture and in transforming local food 
systems. The project also established the costs and returns 
from implementing climate-smart villages to present a 
compelling case for sustained investments by governments 
and donors.

“We noticed that family farms that have 
diversified and intensified using climate-resilient 
approaches have been able to cope with the 
disruption of food supply chains resulting 
from the pandemic. Access to local financing 
has helped women make investments in this 
diversification effort.”

— Emily Monville Oro, Acting Asia Regional Director,  
International Institute of Rural Reconstruction

“I am happy that our 
community is receiving 
help and support 
for improving our 
livelihoods. I feel secure 
that my family will be 
able to overcome future 
challenges. Rest assured 
that we will build on 
your efforts.”

— Woman living in a climate- 
smart village in the Province of 

Quezon in the Phillippines
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Conclusion
Women are at the heart of solutions for a sustainable and 
inclusive post-pandemic world. Recent results from IDRC-
supported research reinforce our conviction that advancing 
gender equality leads to stronger, healthier and more 
prosperous families, communities and countries. Addressing 
the barriers women face in accessing paid employment, 
adequate healthcare and their meaningful participation in 
economic and political decision-making means building a 
more sustainable and inclusive world for all.

In 2021–2022, IDRC’s strategic partnerships across the Global 
South and around the world advanced gender equality and 
developed new opportunities for inclusive growth. These 
efforts build on our ongoing commitment to inclusive and 
equitable development research. 

Strategy 2030 will continue to inform the Centre’s work 
in advancing gender equality. Through Strategy 2030, the 
Centre commits to high-quality research and innovation, 
sharing knowledge for greater uptake and use, and 
mobilizing alliances for impact, with the advancement of 
gender equality central to each of these pillars. 

Our upcoming work to advance women’s equality includes 
the recently launched project, Women RISE (Women’s health 
and economic empowerment for a COVID-19 Recovery that 
is Inclusive, Sustainable and Equitable). This initiative supports 
action-oriented research on how women’s health and their 
work (paid or unpaid) intersect and interact in the context of 
preparing for, responding to and recovering from COVID-19. 
Supported by IDRC, the Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council, Women RISE is aligned with the United Nations 
Research Roadmap for the COVID-19 Recovery. Research 
evidence generated by this initiative will inform immediate 
and medium-term solutions for post-COVID-19 recovery that 
will improve both gender and health equality. 

A new Canada-UK partnership to enable socially inclusive and 
sustainable climate action will be another major component 
of our work to advance equality in the years ahead. With 
climate change increasingly and disproportionately affecting 
the world’s most vulnerable — especially women, girls and 
marginalized communities — there is a critical need for 
systems-level, action-oriented research to enable a more 
climate-resilient future for everyone. The Climate Adaptation 
and Resilience (CLARE) initiative aims to address this gap. 

Over the coming year, IDRC will continue implementing the 
Gender Equality and Inclusion Programming Framework to 
ensure the Centre’s approach to gender equality is intentional 
and systematic. Upcoming activities under the framework 
include creating tools to help grantees incorporate gender 
and inclusion considerations in their projects and building 
specific gender indicators into all IDRC programs.

Much more work remains to be done. Through strategic and 
impactful alliances with partners across the Global South, 
the advancement of gender equality will continue to be a 
priority in IDRC investments over the coming years. This work 
will leverage and be informed by the impacts and outcomes 
of current and recent work highlighted here and from other 
gender-transformative research projects.
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Core business
As a Crown corporation and part of Canada’s global affairs 
and development efforts, IDRC invests in high-quality 
research in developing countries, shares knowledge with 
researchers and policymakers for greater uptake and use  
and mobilizes global alliances to build a more sustainable 
and inclusive world. 

Our work is directed by the International Development 
Research Centre Act (1970), which aims “to initiate, encourage, 
support and conduct research into the problems of the 
developing regions of the world and into the means for 
applying and adapting scientific, technical, and other 
knowledge to the economic and social advancement of 
those regions.”

In carrying out our mandate, the Centre:  

 � provides financial support to researchers in developing 
countries to address domestic development challenges 
and contribute to broader global solutions;  

 � facilitates the use and uptake of research, and encourages 
dialogue and learning between researchers, policymakers, 
and private sector actors;  

 � synthesizes and shares results across research 
investments to inform local, regional, and global  
agendas; and   

 � engages, convenes, and collaborates with research 
organizations and funding partners throughout the 
spectrum of our work. 

We receive funding through a parliamentary appropriation 
from the Government of Canada to carry out our mandate. 
These funds, combined with donor contributions, enables us 
to achieve our mission and objectives. 

Our activities are guided by Strategy 2030 — a bold and 
ambitious agenda that affirms our commitment to support 
more sustainable and inclusive societies in the developing 
world. We are doing this by:

 � investing in high-quality research and innovation,

 � sharing knowledge to inform local and global  
action, and 

 � mobilizing global alliances for impact.

IDRC conducted all operations virtually throughout the 
2021–2022 financial year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Information on the impacts of the pandemic on our 
operations, risks and financial results is reflected throughout 
the MD&A and in the notes to the financial statements. 

We recognize that collaboration and networks are key to 
development impact. We contribute to major Canadian 
government initiatives and deliver on Canada’s international 
assistance priorities. We work closely with Global Affairs 

Canada and regularly collaborate with FinDev Canada (the 
development finance subsidiary of Export Development 
Canada) and with Canada’s research granting councils: the 
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, the 
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and the 
Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

Our approach to partnering is focused on collaborating 
with a wide variety of organizations, including government 
agencies, granting councils, the private sector, and 
philanthropic foundations. This approach seeks to mobilize 
alliances that increase our contributions in research for 
development and broaden the reach of research results, 
increase financial resources for research institutions, and 
bring innovations to scale to address the needs of developing 
countries.

We follow a robust process to select funding recipients. 
Proposals are assessed by experts based on scientific merit, 
development impact, risk, and researcher and/or institutional 
capacity. Complex projects often involve multiple grantee 
institutions, and each recipient institution must sign a grant 
agreement that provides the terms and conditions of funding. 
A risk assessment process is followed for all recipients that 
looks at the administrative and financial capacity of grantee 
institutions. The release of funds to grantees is based on 
progress toward research activities and validated through 
satisfactory technical and financial reports. 

The advisory and knowledge brokerage functions of the 
Centre are central to our business and overall corporate 
performance, in accordance with our mandate as established 
in the International Development Research Centre Act. 
Knowledge brokerage functions also strengthen the research 
capabilities of our research grant recipients. This component 
of our work forms part of our value to recipients and 
distinguishes us from other development assistance funders. 
We believe that, where possible, providing local support to 
enhance research capabilities is best. As such, we operate 
five regional offices (see page 31) where our employees 
collaborate with research institutions to advance initiatives.

At 31 March 2022, IDRC had 35 active 
donor contribution agreements with 
17 donors.  The value of the donor 
contributions was $454.6 million.

For active grant recipients at 31 March 
2022, the average grant is $759 753 
for a duration of 37 months.
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Corporate governance 
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Responsibilities 

The Board of Governors oversees our strategic direction 
and operations. The board acts and conducts its business in 
accordance with the IDRC Act, the IDRC General By-Law, and 
governance best practices. The board’s charter details its roles 
and responsibilities, composition, and organization.  

The key responsibilities of IDRC’s Board of Governors are to: 

 �  Provide leadership over the Centre’s strategic direction; 

 � Approve the Centre’s strategic plan and monitor 
corporate performance against the approved plan; 

 �  Review and approve the Centre’s annual priorities,  
plans, budgets and annual reports; 

 � Assess and ensure that systems are in place to manage 
risks associated with the Centre’s business; 

 �  Ensure the integrity of the Centre’s internal control  
and management information systems; 

 � Monitor the performance of the Chief Executive  
Officer and board-appointed officers and receive  
regular updates concerning succession plans for  
senior staff of the Centre; and  

 � Assess its own performance in fulfilling board 
responsibilities.  

Philosophy of governance 

The Board of Governors reviews and enhances its governance 
practices on a continual basis to achieve higher standards. 
The following principles guide their operations and ensure 
good corporate governance. 

 �  To strive for consensus in decision-making while 
encouraging diverse views and perspectives; 

 �  To conduct informed decision-making and exercise 
good judgment in providing leadership over the Centre’s 
strategic directions, the safeguarding of our resources and 
the monitoring of corporate performance; 

 � To believe in a culture of ideas, questions, challenges and 
the continuous process of learning; 

 � To ensure clarity in individual and collective roles and 
responsibilities; 

 � To practise transparency in reporting and responding to 
requests for information from the Canadian government 
and the public; 

 � To encourage open and honest communication between 
employees, management and the Board of Governors; 

 � To value innovation, experimentation, and change as 
means to achieving continuous improvement; and 

 � To recognize and use evaluation as a tool for learning  
and accountability. 

Principles of accountability

The Board of Governors promotes, adheres to and maintains 
the highest standards of ethical behaviour and transparency. 
The standards of conduct for governors in carrying out 
their responsibilities and the exercise of their function are 
defined in the IDRC Board Code of Conduct, which members 
acknowledge in writing on an annual basis. In accordance 
with the IDRC Board Conflict of Interest Guidelines, board 
members must declare any potential conflict of interest at  
the beginning of each meeting. 

We are accountable to Parliament and to Canadians. 
On behalf of the Centre, the Chairperson of the Board 
reports to Parliament through the Minister of International 
Development. The Annual Report, including the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and audited financial 
statements, is tabled in Parliament by the Minister of 
International Development.

Board expertise

Members of the board, in combination, must possess the 
experience and skills to provide thoughtful and experienced 
counsel on a broad range of issues related to our mandate. 
The IDRC Act specifies that at least eight governors must 
have experience in the field of international development 
or experience or training in the natural or social sciences 
or technology. In addition, a comprehensive competency 
framework provides the board with ongoing insight into the 
skills it collectively possesses and the skills it may require. The 
capacities and skills of members are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that work is conducted effectively. 

Continuous learning and improvement are critical to our 
commitment to excellence. Governors attend orientation 
and education sessions on an ongoing basis to expand 
their knowledge of the Centre’s operations, to identify 
emerging challenges and opportunities in the research for 
development environment and to examine governance 
issues. Moreover, the board reviews its performance on 
an annual basis to assess its effectiveness and improve its 
function. Board members are surveyed on the performance 
of the board and its committees, as well as members’ 
understanding of their own performance.  
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Membership

The composition of IDRC’s board is established and 
supported by Canada’s Parliament. The Centre is directed by 
a Board of Governors of up to 14 members, including the 
Chairperson and President.  

The IDRC Act stipulates that a majority of board members 
must be Canadian. The Chairperson and the President are 
appointed by the Governor in Council to hold office for terms 
of up to five years. The other governors are appointed for 
terms of up to four years. Retiring governors are eligible for 
re-appointment. 

Governors are appointed by the Governor in Council 
following an open, transparent and merit-based selection 
process.  

IDRC’s Board of Governors 

(as at 31 March 2022)

MARGARET BIGGS 
Chairperson  
Ottawa, Ontario

CHANDRA MADRAMOOTOO 
Vice-Chairperson  
Montreal, Quebec

JEAN LEBEL 
President 
Ottawa, Ontario

AKWASI AIDOO 
Gastonia, North Carolina, USA

ALEX AWITI 
Nairobi, Kenya

MARY ANNE CHAMBERS 
Thornhill, Ontario

SOPHIE D’AMOURS 
Quebec City, Quebec

PURNIMA MANE 
San Mateo, California, USA

JOHN McARTHUR 
Vancouver, British Columbia and Washington, DC, USA

GILLES RIVARD 
Mont-Tremblant, Québec

HILARY ROSE 
Sherwood Park, Alberta 

STEPHEN TOOPE 
Cambridge, United Kingdom

Former governors who served during  
the reporting period:

SHAINOOR KHOJA (term ended 17 June 2021) 
Vancouver, British Columbia and Dubai, United Arab Emirates 

BARBARA TRENHOLM (term ended 30 August 2021) 
Fredericton, New Brunswick

Function of the Board

The board held three meetings in 2021–2022. 

The board functions through standing committees. Each 
committee has its own terms of reference and serves to 
address issues that require specific expertise. This structure 
allows for detailed advice to be provided to the entire board 
on decision points concerning respective committees’ areas 
of competence. 

IDRC has four board committees  
as at 31 March 2022:  

The Executive (Governance and Nominating) Committee 
(convened four times in 2021–2022) functions for the 
board between regular board meetings on urgent matters; 
ensures that the board has a sound approach to corporate 
governance by monitoring its functions and implementing 
good corporate governance practices; and oversees 
committee memberships. 

Members: 

Margaret Biggs (Committee Chairperson), Mary Anne 
Chambers, Jean Lebel, Chandra Madramootoo, Purnima 
Mane, Gilles Rivard, Hilary Rose and Stephen Toope. 

Stephen Toope became a committee member  
effective 1 October 2021.

Hilary Rose became a committee member  
effective 1 February 2022.

The Finance and Audit Committee (convened six times 
in 2021–2022) provides oversight of our finance and audit 
functions; reviews and recommends the annual budget, 
management’s discussion and analysis, and audited financial 
statements to the full board; and provides oversight for the 
Centre’s risk management, internal controls systems and 
practices and standards for integrity and behaviour.
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Members: 

Hilary Rose (Committee Chairperson), Akwasi Aidoo,  
Mary Anne Chambers and Gilles Rivard. 

Shainoor Khoja was a member until 21 June 2021.

Barbara Trenholm was a member until 30 August 2021.

Hilary Rose became a committee member effective  
1 October 2021 and the Committee Chairperson as  
of 1 February 2022.

Mary Anne Chambers was the Committee Chairperson  
from 2 August 2021 until 31 January 2022.

Margaret Biggs, as Board Chairperson, and Chandra 
Madramootoo, as Board Vice-Chairperson, are ex-officio 
members. 

The Strategy, Program Performance, and Learning 
Committee (convened four times in 2021–2022) supports 
the board in fulfilling its ongoing responsibilities in terms of 
setting strategic priorities, annual planning and performance 
monitoring. 

Members:  

Purnima Mane (Committee Chairperson), Alex Awiti, Sophie 
D’Amours, John McArthur, Jean Lebel and Stephen Toope.   

Shainoor Khoja was a member until 21 June 2021.

Margaret Biggs, as Board Chairperson, and Chandra 
Madramootoo, as Board Vice-Chairperson, are ex-officio 
members.  

The Human Resources Committee (convened three times 
in 2021–2022) supports the board in fulfilling responsibilities 
with respect to the application of sound human resource 
policies and practices that support our mission and mandate. 
The committee considers and advises the board on the 
president’s annual performance evaluation and objectives. 

Members:   

Gilles Rivard (Committee Chairperson), Akwasi Aidoo, Mary 
Anne Chambers, Jean Lebel, Hilary Rose and John McArthur.  

Hilary Rose became a committee member effective  
1 October 2021. 

Margaret Biggs, as Board Chairperson, and Chandra 
Madramootoo, as Board Vice-Chairperson, are ex-officio 
members. 

Compensation 

Compensation for governors is set according to Government 
of Canada Remuneration Guidelines for Part-time Governor in 
Council Appointees in Crown Corporations as follows:

 � per diem range for governors is $360–$420

 � annual retainer range for committee chairpersons  
is $4,600–$5,400

 � annual retainer range for the chairperson is  
$9,200–$10,800

Centre Executives

(as at 31 March 2022)

JEAN LEBEL, President

JULIE SHOULDICE, Vice-President, Strategy, Regions  
and Policy 

DOMINIQUE CHARRON, Vice-President, Programs and 
Partnerships

GENEVIÈVE LEGUERRIER, Vice-President, Resources,  
and Chief Financial Officer

Regional Directors

(as at 31 March 2022)

ANINDYA CHATTERJEE  
Asia Regional Office 

JULIE CROWLEY 
West and Central Africa Regional Office

FEDERICO BURONE 
Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Office

BARBARA SHENSTONE  
Middle East and North Africa Regional Office 

KATHRYN TOURE 
Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Office 



IDRC ANNUAL REPORT 2021–202228

IDRC’s commitment to transparency  
and accountability
IDRC is accountable to Parliament and all Canadians for its use of public resources.

IDRC is committed to transparency and, as such, provides information on its website and in its publications, reports 
to Parliament, and conducts public outreach programs. As a research organization, IDRC also maintains transparency 
with the research community and the general public by making the results of its projects (studies, papers, articles, etc.) 
available to all.

Below are some of the measures in place that help the Centre meet the standards set by the Government of Canada for 
accountability and transparency.

Policies and Practices
• IDRC’s equality statement
• Code of conduct
• Leadership charter
• Diversity, equity, and

inclusion
• Mental health and

workplace wellbeing

Regulatory Reports
• Annual reports pursuant to:

• Public Servants Disclosure
Protection Act

• Canadian Multiculturalism Act
• Employment Equity Act
• O cial Languages Act
• Access to Information Act
• Privacy Act
• Canada Labour Code

Government

Risk Management and Audit
• Integrated risk management

approach
• Internal Audit aligned with

leading practices
• O ce of the Auditor General

• Annual Attest Audit
• Special Examinations

Public
• Strategic Plan
• Annual public meeting
• Disclosure of travel and hospitality expenses

of senior executives and Board
• IDRC Digital Library, including:

• Open access to information on IDRC-funded
research projects

• IDRC programming evaluations
• Free IDRC published/co-published books

Corporate Reports
• Annual Report
• Quarterly Financial Reports
• Contributions to:

• Statistics Canada reporting on social
and natural science expenses

• The International Aid Transparency
Initiative

• O cial Development Assistance
Accountability Act

• Public Accounts of Canada

Government Public

Policies and
Practices

Regulatory
Reports

Risk Managment
and Audit

Corporate
Reports

•  Parliamentary Committee 
appearances (when requested)

•  Proactive measures to adhere 
to Canada’s legislative obligations 
regarding trade and economic 
sanctions and terrorists and 
terrorist groups
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Capacity to deliver
Financial resources
We derive the majority of revenues from a parliamentary 
appropriation and from donor contributions received 
pursuant to co-funding agreements. The parliamentary 
appropriation is the most significant and allows us to deliver 
our mandate. It includes a recurring portion and a non-
recurring portion that fluctuates as parliamentary transfers  
are agreed upon with other federal government 
organizations. The total amount of the parliamentary 
appropriation for 2021–2022 was $148.6 million, which 
represents 68.8% of IDRC’s revenues and 3% of Canada’s 
international assistance envelope. 

Contributions arising from co-funding agreements are 
accounted for as donor contribution revenues. In 2021–2022, 
the value of signed multi-year co-funding agreements was 
$159.4 million.

We also combine our efforts with those of other funders 
who work directly with recipients to increase support to 
IDRC-funded projects (referred to as parallel funding). In 
2021–2022, $32.8 million of parallel funding was generated, 
bringing total external contributions to IDRC-funded projects 
to $69.5 million.

How we work
To deliver on our ambitious Strategy 2030, we are aligning 
our business operations with our vision. This includes 
enhancing our internal skills, expertise and systems. We are 
strengthening our reputation as an inclusive and innovative 
employer by attracting top talent and continuing to ensure 
the organization’s financial sustainability.

Promoting knowledge-sharing 

Strategy 2030 commits to sharing knowledge for greater 
uptake and use to increase the reach and impact of IDRC-
supported research at the national, regional and global levels. 
It highlights our commitment to making the research we 
fund more accessible, visible and useful.  

Increased the reach, accessibility and visibility  
of our work 

Our efforts to communicate our responses to climate change 
and to COVID-19 include an editorial in Canadian Science 
Policy Magazine on the need for international cooperation 
and strengthened support for Southern research; a social 
media campaign and newsletter during International 
Development Week in February 2022 that emphasized 
inclusive COVID-19 recovery; and the dissemination of 
research about safer food systems, responsive health systems, 
climate and recovery through debt relief, and the impacts of 
the informal economy on women.

2021–2022 REVENUE BY SOURCE  ($ MILLIONS)
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We helped to strengthen the contribution of African scientists 
and the Dakar and Nairobi offices organized regional 
dialogues to help socialize the findings and support African 
climate leadership. 

We also engaged audiences at significant global events 
such as the United Nations Food Systems Summit, the World 
Health Summit and the United Nations Commission on the 
Status of Women.

We helped establish the Adaptation Research Alliance that 
was launched at COP26. The Alliance, made up of more  
than 120 organizations, catalyzes increased investment 
in climate adaptation research and provides a common 
platform for planning research and its uptake. In addition, 
the IDRC-hosted Climate Adaptation and Resilience 
research program constitutes substantive UK and Canadian 
government commitments to the aims of the Adaptation 
Research Alliance. 

Finally, a dual campaign in March 2022 marked both 
International Women’s Day (focused on the impact of  
climate change on gender equality) and the second 
anniversary of the COVID-19 pandemic (focused on the 
impact of COVID-19 on gender equality). The International 
Women’s Day campaign generated the highest single-day 
total of IDRC social media mentions since new dashboard 
tracking began in 2021. To mark the second anniversary of 
the pandemic, an article was published on our website that 
summarized pandemic insights and learnings from research 
partners and served to amplify voices and perspectives  
from the Global South.

Strengthening partnerships

A new partnership strategy was designed to mobilize 
alliances for the greatest impact and to guide how we work 
with funders to achieve the goals and objectives of Strategy 
2030. This year, we made progress in three key areas:

1. Co-invest with other funders to grow the resources 
available for research 
In 2021–2022, we further strengthened partnerships, 
notably through enhancing the Science Granting 
Councils Initiative in sub-Saharan Africa and renewing 
and diversifying funding sources with co-funding 
agreements with the Norwegian Agency for Development 
Cooperation, the Toronto-based Azrieli Foundation and 
the Canadian Institutes of Health Research on the Joint 
Canada-Israel Health Research Program. 

2. Share knowledge arising from our research through the 
reach and global influence of funding partners 
At the invitation of the UN Deputy Secretary General 
Amina Mohamed and following on our work with the 
Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) on the 
global research roadmap for inclusive and sustainable 
pandemic recovery, IDRC and CIHR, together with 
the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, 

co-invested $22 million to address pillar 3.5 of the 
UN Research Roadmap on inclusive and gender-
transformative recovery strategies.

3. Positioning IDRC’s partnerships as a key part of Canada’s 
international assistance and foreign affairs efforts 
High-profile partnerships multiply resources and generate 
powerful ideas to tackle global issues. For example, our 
new phase of partnership with the UK government 
has a focus on climate change and was announced by 
Canada’s Ambassador for Climate Change and the UK 
Minister for Asia at the UN Climate Conference in Glasgow. 
We also helped to establish the Adaptation Research 
Alliance launched at COP26. This coalition of over 120 
organizations across 40 economies is catalyzing increased 
investment in action-oriented climate adaptation research 
and providing a common platform for planning research 
and its uptake. The IDRC-hosted Climate Adaptation and 
Resilience research program constitutes substantive UK 
and Canadian government commitments to the aims of 
the Adaptation Research Alliance. 

These types of partnerships firmly position us among 
important players in the Canadian and international 
development research fields.

Engaging the private sector

We continued implementing our private sector engagement 
strategy to support Strategy 2030’s core objective of 
mobilizing alliances for impact. The strategy positions us to: 

 � work with private sector actors to strengthen their 
contribution to global development; 

 � build an enabling environment for private sector actors 
to take positive action on the Sustainable Development 
Goals; and 

 � attract private sector investment for development 
solutions with impact. 

These efforts focus on how we can meaningfully extend the 
role of private sector actors beyond co-funders to become 
collaborators and implementers. 

In 2021–2022 we approved additional funding for projects 
that mobilize private sector actors across program areas 
and regions. For example, a new initiative in Latin America 
helps women-focused agricultural businesses promote 
carbon-negative impacts, increase inclusion and gender 
equality, and enhance community resilience to shocks such 
as climate change or pandemics. Key collaborators on this 
project include business incubators, accelerators and impact 
investors.  
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Leveraging the Centre’s international presence

We have five regional offices across the Global South in New 
Delhi, India; Amman, Jordan; Nairobi, Kenya; Dakar, Senegal; 
and Montevideo, Uruguay. 

Our regional offices work closely with the communities 
they serve and with Canada’s missions abroad. They play an 
important role in maintaining the relevance and effectiveness 
of our programming. Their ability to connect solutions with 
local actors, identify and support leaders and foster multi-
sectoral collaboration are particularly important in ensuring 
the success of our research projects.

In 2021–2022, regional offices continued to support 
programming, track emerging issues, participate in outreach 
with key partners and researchers and engage with Canadian 
missions. They led initiatives to highlight the importance 
of research and evidence-based solutions to inform public 
policy within their regions. They also promoted our focus on 
the impacts of COVID-19 and climate change with a cross-
cutting gender lens.

On the COVID-19 front, for example, the New Delhi office is 
working with partners to support local and solutions-oriented 
research to address the systemic barriers women face during 
and following the pandemic and to access opportunities that 
arise in new low-carbon economic activities. 

The Nairobi office is supporting research on the gendered 
impact of the pandemic on livelihoods in Africa, particularly 
on food security, malnutrition and hunger.

On climate change, the Amman office has been consulting 
with key stakeholders to plan for our engagement at the 
United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP 27) in Egypt 
in November 2022. The Dakar office led a high-level webinar 
on the impacts and insights of the climate emergency in 
West Africa, highlighting the contribution of African scientists 
to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 

The Montevideo office held a series of regional webinars on 
the gendered impact of COVID-19 recovery in Latin America 
and the Caribbean and coordinated the work of grantees 
on a policy paper to inform regional government plans for 
pandemic recovery, including the gender economy.

Sustainable and inclusive organization

IDRC’s Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee represents 
the Centre’s employee groups with members of diverse 
backgrounds that reflect various dimensions such as gender 
identity, disability status, racial and ethnic background and 
sexual orientation.  

In September 2021, the committee launched a Centre-wide 
diversity census to help establish a baseline from which we 
can assess our diversity as well as future needs.  

Workforce diversity

 � 64.7% women

 � 27.7% members of visible minorities

 � 0.4% Indigenous peoples

 � 3.4% person with disabilities 

(as at 31 December 2021; as per reporting to Labour Program of 
Employment and Social Development Canada, only Ottawa-hired  
staff positions are included.)

Focus on people and talent

Our success relies on employing a workforce that is 
committed, innovative and engaged. We actively nurture a 
healthy and effective workplace that provides employees 
with opportunities to build the expertise, skills and capacities 
they need to excel.

Healthy and effective workforce

Over the course of the past year and throughout the 
pandemic, we have focused on providing a safe and 
supportive workplace for employees. The Mental Health & 
Workplace Wellbeing Committee continued to hold a virtual 
café on a regular basis where employees could exchange 
and share experiences and feelings related to their work 
or personal life, as well as discussions about mental health 
issues. The People & Corporate Culture Division wellness team 
secured Workplace Mental Health speakers to provide live 
virtual conferences to employees, sharing their experience 
and best practices in breaking down stigma and creating a 
psychologically healthy and safe work environment.

Investing in our people

307

55  Parliamentary-funded

 Donor-funded
362

IDRC’S WORKFORCE BY FUNDING SOURCE

Parliamentary-funded

Donor-funded
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Environmental, Social and Governance at IDRC

As part of Strategy 2030, we made a strong commitment 
to being a sustainable and inclusive organization. This 
commitment is at the root of environmental, social and 
governance (ESG) considerations. By supporting the UN’s 
Sustainable Development Goals through our research and 
programming, we inherently touch upon many significant 
ESG issues and topics. However, we understand that these 
issues extend beyond our work abroad and apply to many 
other functions within IDRC. We are developing an ESG 
strategy and roadmap to integrate these considerations  
into the core of our mandate.

The ESG roadmap will allow us to prioritize and integrate  
the most pertinent issues and topics within our operations 
and programming. The following are steps that were 
completed in this financial year to advance our ESG  
strategy and roadmap.
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1. Current state analysis  
We took inventory of the initiatives and practices that 
have already been implemented that contribute to each 
ESG element. During this process, we realized that the 
number of initiatives and practices currently in place are 
quite robust. Below are some highlights of our current 
initiatives.

 � Environment: Environmental risks are considered in 
our funding partner selection process. We document 
emissions from employee air travel and we have 
committed to reducing our greenhouse gas emissions  
as part of Strategy 2030. 

 � Social: Diversity, equity and inclusion are integrated 
into all functions of the Centre and we have developed 
initiatives to ensure the health and wellbeing of our 
employees. New cultures and values statements were 
drafted for implementation in 2022–2023. 

 � Governance: Ethics considerations are integrated into 
all of our functions through various policies. We have 
advanced monitoring and evaluation processes for our 
research and programming and ensure that all research 
activities can be accessed by the public.

2. Peer-benchmarking exercise  
We assessed current ESG practices and reporting 
initiatives implemented by peers to gain an 
understanding of best practices, assess their key  
ESG priorities and to identify which reporting  
frameworks are used. 

3. Identification of priority ESG topic areas  
Through the current state analysis and benchmarking,  
we were able to identify several ESG priority topics and 
areas that will be integrated into our roadmap. 

4. Enhanced governance  
The Board of Governors and the Centre management 
team play a key role in the development of our ESG 
strategy. By engaging both key governance bodies  
in the early stages of our ESG journey, we have gained 
an understanding of the key priorities and necessary 
governance mechanisms to ensure successful ESG 
integration. 

These actions helped us identify the ESG topics and 
practices that we can advance within our research and 
programming, our funding and partnerships and our 
operations. As we further integrate ESG and develop our 
strategy, our ambition is to ensure we are consistent with 
ESG and the Sustainable Development Goals across IDRC.  

In addition, the Government of Canada has made critical 
commitments to transition to a low-carbon economy, 
with a requirement for federal crown corporations to 
report in alignment with the Task Force on Climate 
Related Financial Disclosures framework. We will comply 
with these requirements and, as we believe that our role 
extends beyond climate, we will also ensure that ESG 
issues are considered and integrated into our approach 
and reporting.  

Fit for purpose

We are finding new ways of working while proactively 
managing risk. This includes innovating to ensure excellence 
in our operations, grant administration and financial systems. 
As a learning organization, we will continuously strengthen 
our performance to maximize the results and impact of  
our work.

Nurturing data management excellence
In support of fact-based decision-making, we rolled out key 
elements of a data and information strategy. We revised 
our data governance policies alongside launching a new 
analytics platform to provide more dynamic access to key 
information. This developing framework and platform, along 
with increased data literacy, will foster a data-enabled culture 
of innovation and inspire further strategic insights.

Monitoring, evaluation and learning 
We use monitoring, evaluation and learning to assess and 
demonstrate results, to learn how research contributes 
to development, to inform our decisions and to meet 
accountability requirements. 

We engaged in several key monitoring, evaluation and 
learning initiatives in 2021–2022. As a steward for research 
and innovation, we believe the way research is evaluated is 
important for ensuring that it is a positive force for change 
in the world. We published a new position paper advocating 
for a global rethink on the way research is evaluated. Called 
Research Quality Plus (RQ+) – Evaluating Research Differently, 
it describes the “Research Quality Plus” approach that we 
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developed to evaluate IDRC-supported research. Research 
Quality Plus can help cultivate a new vision of research quality 
that addresses complex challenges and supports sustainable 
development.

We also completed a corporate evaluation of our strategy 
to scale research results. At IDRC, “scaling” means optimizing 
results in ways that matter most to people and our planet. 
Scaling our impact is central to the way we work and the 
research we support. The evaluation gathered diverse 
perspectives from our experiences and from the global 
research community and highlighted important insights 
regarding the practices, systems and processes that can 
support or hinder efforts to scale impact. 

We also completed an evaluation of the second phase 
of the Climate and Development Knowledge Network 
(CDKN2). This phase focused on the Knowledge Accelerator 
initiative, which aims to share actionable knowledge about 
climate research by tailoring it to the needs of key actors in 
developing countries, including national policymakers. This 
influenced, for example, Ecuador’s Ministry of Environment 
to develop the country’s first gender and climate change 
action plan. The evaluation found that as a trusted Southern-
based global knowledge broker, CDKN2 was strengthening 
regional and global agendas to promote climate-compatible 
development.

We also reflected on what we are learning as an organization 
from our collective efforts to achieve our Strategy 2030 goals 
on gender equality. Key lessons to improve the way we 
support research that addresses gender equality include:

 � the importance of investing in organizations and 
strengthening their capacity to improve gender equality 
in the broader research environment; 

 � ensuring research is conducted in a way that engages 
decision-makers and strengthens their capacity to use 
evidence to support gender equality; and 

 � ensuring that strategies to scale research results account 
for effects on vulnerable groups, including women and 
girls, so that more equitable impact is achieved.

Financial accountability and sound  
financial management

We have a solid financial management framework that 
ensures proper stewardship of funds. From the preparation 
of a rigorous budget to regular monitoring and analysis of 
financial results and continuous forecasting, the framework 
ensures that financial resources are used for their intended 
purpose and contribute to achieving our mission and 
vision. Management monitors key financial indicators and 
variables that impact the level of resources available for 
research in future years, including outstanding commitments, 
expenditure patterns on new projects and the level of 
administrative expenses. Tracking these indicators ensures 
that financial management and planning is exercised with 
the utmost prudence and diligence of public funds while 
achieving our goal of being a fit for purpose organization.

Business process re-engineering

We are reviewing our grant-making processes, including 
how we can better leverage technology, to align with our 
commitment to modernize and reduce the administrative 
burden for employees and grantees. We aim to improve our 
grant-making business processes to ensure that the systems, 
information and data that is used by IDRC, our partners and 
grantees is integrated. 
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Risk management
We are committed to implementing a continuous, proactive 
and systematic approach to risk management. Our risk 
management processes and practices, undertaken by 
management and staff and overseen by our Board of 
Governors, are designed to identify potential risks, both 
opportunities and threats, that may enhance or hinder the 
achievement of established objectives, and to manage these 
risks within acceptable levels. 

Our broad mandate, international network, and the complex 
environments in which we operate expose us to a wide range 
of risks. We apply various controls and strategies to manage 
risk and use a three-line model for our internal control 
framework.

 � First line: Management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining effective internal controls and executing risk 
and control procedures on a day-to-day basis.

 � Second line: Risk management provides complementary 
expertise, support, monitoring and challenge functions 
related to the management of risks. 

 � Third line: The internal audit function provides 
independent assurance on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
internal control to management and the Board. 

To ensure effective management of our risks, risk 
management principles of best practice are applied 
strategically and appropriately. Practices and accountabilities 
are integrated at all levels and across the Centre.

We continually refine our risk management practices in 
order to adequately support corporate strategy and enhance 
outcomes. Practices are periodically reviewed to ensure they  
align with effective corporate governance, to strengthen 
risk management processes and to advance our risk 
management culture. 

The table that follows lists key corporate risks that were 
identified through a comprehensive risk assessment 
and discussed by the Board of Governors in March 2022. 
Management reviewed the existing controls in place and 
identified additional risk-mitigating strategies for their in-year 
implementation.   

Internal audit

Internal audit is a key element of our accountability structure. 
Its mission is to enhance and protect organizational value 
by providing risk-based and independent assurance, 
advice and insight. This is accomplished by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance 
processes that support management’s efforts to achieve 
our corporate objectives. The purpose, authority and 
independence, responsibilities, scope of work and standards 
for internal audit are defined in the Board-approved Internal 
Audit Charter, published on our website.
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KEY CORPORATE RISKS RISK RESPONSES

RISK 1: CYBERSECURITY

Given the prevailing cybersecurity threat, there is 
a risk that IDRC data may be lost or compromised, 
which could affect operations and cause 
reputational harm.

Cyber-attacks are increasingly directed at organizations involved 
in research and target potentially valuable intellectual property. 
Management implemented specific measures to optimize our 
cybersecurity. These included participating in the Canadian Centre 
for Cybersecurity Crown Community network, establishing the 
internal Cybersecurity Task Force, obtaining cybersecurity insurance 
and continuously implementing enhancements to systems and 
practices.

RISK 2: WELLBEING

Given the uncertainty associated with the 
prolonged pandemic, if the staff’s emotional, 
mental and physical health is not adequately 
supported, there is a risk that their wellbeing, 
morale and the overall productivity of the 
organization will be affected.

A healthy and engaged workforce is integral to our success. We 
follow health and safety protocols provided by the Government 
of Canada and directives from local public health authorities in 
Ottawa and in each regional office. A response management team 
supports agile decision-making related to the pandemic. Various 
forms of assistance are offered to staff and the flexibility in work 
arrangements has helped meet their needs as they adapted to a 
virtual workplace.

RISK 3: ORGANIZATIONAL TRANSFORMATION

Given the organizational transformation process 
that is underway to deliver on Strategy 2030 and 
improve the effectiveness of IDRC, there is a risk 
that ongoing multiple change initiatives, if not 
sufficiently prioritized and coordinated, will cause 
organization-wide fatigue and underachievement 
of transformation goals.

We are undertaking a Centre-wide transformation agenda to 
implement Strategy 2030 and improve overall organizational 
effectiveness. The success of this transformation is dependent 
on effective coordination and the prioritization of change 
management strategies. We developed and are implementing 
a governance framework for change management to ensure a 
consistent and coordinated approach to managing the impact of 
change. In addition, an internal communication plan was created 
to ensure employee understanding of the transformation agenda.

RISK 4: COVID IMPACT ON PROGRAMS 

Given the prolonged pandemic, if IDRC is not 
successful in managing its impact on program 
delivery, there is a risk that the Centre will not be 
able to effectively deliver on our objectives.

We have adapted our approach to effectively continue our ongoing 
and planned programming operations during the pandemic. 
Existing programs are closely examined to ensure program 
objectives are accomplished. New program planning considers the 
COVID context locally and globally and research projects have plans 
to mitigate disruptions. Regional offices and program branches 
have an active role in monitoring new risks and implementing 
course-correcting actions.

RISK 5: FUNDING 

Given current budget deficits and the increased 
volatility in the funding landscape, there is a 
risk that IDRC’s funding through parliamentary 
appropriations may be reduced and/or co-funding 
targets are not achieved, impacting our ability to 
deliver our objectives. 

Any potential reduction of funding — whether in a parliamentary 
appropriation or a bilateral funding agreement with funders 
and philanthropic foundations — would decrease our funding 
capacity and ability to scale programming to achieve impact. 
Ongoing controls to mitigate this risk include strategic exchanges 
with government stakeholders and implementation of the 
communication and the partnership funding strategies to optimize 
IDRC’s value proposition to target audiences and secure strategic 
engagements.
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Results and outlook

Expenses
The Board of Governors approved the 2021–2022 budget 
prior to the start of the financial year. We completed a mid-
year budget review exercise to ensure the effective use of 
financial resources for the remainder of this financial year. The 
results from this exercise are incorporated throughout the 
Annual Report’s Management’s Discussion & Analysis.

We report expenses under two principal headings: 
development research programming and corporate and 
administrative services. Table 1 presents actual expenses 
against budget for the 2021–2022 financial year and a year-
over-year comparison of expenses. 

For the 2021–2022 financial year, we revised the groupings 
of items included within the “enhancing research capabilities” 
and “corporate and administrative services” expense 
categories. The changes to the grouping for 2021–2022  
result in: 

1. information technology services and the office  
of the vice-president for Strategy, Regions, and  
Policy being presented under corporate and 
administrative services; and 

2. regional office administration reported within  
enhancing research capabilities with the other  
regional office expenses. 

Certain balances have been reclassified (see Note 22 in the 
financial statements for details).

Development research programming 
expenses
Expenses for development research programming totalled 
$180.8 million for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. 
This is $12.6 million or 6.5% lower than budgeted. There is a 
year-over-year decrease of $3.0 million (1.6%).

The direct costs of ongoing scientific and technical research 
projects that we funded are presented by source of funding 
(see Table 1). Most of these projects are carried out by 
independent institutions with the support of research 
grants. Projects also include research activities undertaken 
by individuals with the support of individual training grants, 
scholarships, fellowships, internships and individual research 
and research-related grants. Just over 4% of other project 
activities are carried out internally. 

In 2021–2022, research project expenses funded by 
parliamentary appropriation decreased by 8.7% (to $89.9 
million from $98.4 million in 2020–2021). The year-over-year 
decrease is primarily due to disbursements of funds for 
approved rapid-response COVID-19 projects that occurred 
in the 2020–2021 financial year and were outside the normal 
patterns of research project disbursements. Compared to the 
2021–2022 budget, these expenses were $5.9 million or 6.1% 
lower than the budgeted amount. This is due to lower-than-
expected payments on new projects approved during the 
financial year because several payments occurred later than 
planned.

While most research project expenses are funded by 
parliamentary appropriation, a significant portion ($56.2 
million) is funded by donor contributions. Research project 
expenses funded by donor contributions increased by 
19.2% (or $9.1 million) this year (see Table 1). The year-over-

TABLE 2: EXPENSES

($000) Variance

Development research programming

Research projects funded by

   parliamentary appropriation 89 910 95 776            (5 866) (6.1%) 98 433 (8 523) (8.7%)

Research projects funded by

    donor contributions 56 158 59 627            (3 469) (5.8%) 47 095 9 063 19.2%

Enhancing research capabilities 34 689 37 990            (3 301) (8.7%) 38 204 (3 515) (9.2%)

180 757 193 393          (12 636) (6.5%) 183 732 (2 975) (1.6%)

Corporate and administrative services 20 925 21 290            ( 365) (1.7%) 21 015 ( 90) (0.4%)

Total expenses 201 682 214 683          (13 001) (6.1%) 204 747 (3 065) (1.5%)

a $ and % change actual in 2021–2022 over 2020–2021.

2021–2022 2020–2021

Actual Budget review Actual

$ change 

actual a
% change 

actual a% variance

TABLE 1: EXPENSES
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year increase can be primarily attributed to an increased level 
of activities within the Knowledge and Innovation Exchange, 
the Artificial Intelligence for Development COVID-19 program, 
and the Catalyzing Change for Healthy Sustainable Food 
Systems initiative in Climate-Resilient Food Systems. Research 
project expenses fluctuate annually based on the project 
portfolio. Research project payments are based upon the 
recipient’s progress on research activities and the submission 
of satisfactory grant deliverables. The fact that payments 
did not occur as per the projected timing, especially in large 
and complex multi-year programs, reflects the inherent 
unpredictability related to the conduct of research activities. 
Compared to the 2021–2022 budget, these expenses were 
$3.5 million or 5.8% lower than budget due to several large 
programs under-expensing, namely Mathematical Sciences 
for Climate Change Resilience, Growth and Economic 
Opportunities for Women phase II, and the Science Granting 
Councils Initiative.

Donor contributions are managed by the Centre pursuant 
to a co-funding agreement. These agreements required an 
IDRC contribution of $16.1 million in 2021–2022 (see Figure 
1, funded by parliamentary appropriation – linked to donor 
contributions), or 17.9% of the total Parliament-funded 
research project expenses. 

Enhancing research capabilities is an important advisory 
and knowledge brokerage function that is central to our 
business and overall corporate performance. Actual expenses 
decreased by $3.5 million (9.2%) compared to the previous 
year (see Table 1). This is mostly attributable to lower salaries 
and benefits due to several positions being vacant for part 
of the financial year, lower accommodations cost due to a 
reversal of an accounting provision for the dismantling of 
the current IDRC Head Office in the current financial year, 
and less travel because the 2020–2021 expenses included 
repatriation of a number of overseas employees due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Actual expenses were $3.3 million 
(8.7%) lower than budgeted. Most of the budget variance is 
related to lower salaries and benefits due to a greater number 
of vacancies than forecasted at the time of budgeting, less 
travel than planned at the time of budgeting due to ongoing 
travel restrictions associated with COVID-19 and the timing of 
continuous operating expenses. 

Corporate and administrative service 
expenses
The Figure below shows Corporate and Administrative 
Expenses by year, as well as administrative costs as a 
percentage of total expenses by year.

Corporate and administrative services provide a variety of 
functions that support our overall operations and corporate 
responsibilities. These expenses include services such as 
information technology and information management, 
human resources, and finance and administration, in addition 
to corporate functions such as legal, risk management 
and internal audit (see Corporate services in Figure 2). 
As mentioned at the beginning of the Expenses section, 
the presentation of items included in corporate and 
administrative services was changed in the financial year 
2021–2022. The regional office administration costs that were 
included in the corporate and administrative category are 
now grouped under enhancing research capabilities with the 
other regional office expenses. The financial year 2020–2021 
was revised using the new presentation (refer to Note 22 of 
the financial statements).

Corporate and administrative expenses were stable 
compared to last year and $0.4 million lower than budgeted 
(see Table 1). The budget variance can mostly be attributed 
to fewer professional services than projected at the time 
of budgeting, lower salaries and benefits due to vacant 
positions and the timing of continuing operating expenses.

Figure 2 shows a slight increase in corporate and 
administrative expenses ratio (from 10.3% of total expenses 
in 2020–2021 to 10.4% in 2021–2022). The ratio increased in 
2021–2022 given that total expenses decreased by a higher 
proportion relative to corporate and administrative services 
expenses. Management aims to maintain administrative costs 
at a range of 8% to 11% of total expenses.
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Revenues
Our revenues include a parliamentary appropriation, donor 
contributions and revenues from other sources. The intent 
of the parliamentary appropriation is to contribute to the 
operations of the Centre and is therefore included within the 
revenues for the purpose of the Management’s Discussion & 
Analysis. Consistent with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards, the parliamentary appropriation is presented 
separately, immediately after the cost of operations, on the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Table 2 presents actual revenues against budget for the 
2021–2022 financial year and a year-over-year comparison  
of revenues.

Parliamentary appropriation revenue
The parliamentary appropriation is $3.0 million or 2.0% 
higher in 2021–2022 than in 2020–2021 (see Table 2). 
The Centre’s parliamentary appropriation was increased 
by $5.0 million pursuant to previous commitments from 
the Government of Canada to strengthen our presence 
in West Africa and enhance programming across West 
Africa and la Francophonie. This was partly offset by a 
non-recurring parliamentary appropriation of $2.0 million 
received in 2020–2021 relating to an adjustment to align the 
parliamentary appropriation with economic trends. Actual 
parliamentary appropriation revenues are $6.6 million lower 
than the 2021–2022 budget due to the accounting treatment 
related to a transfer from the Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council to support Canada-developing country research on 
the health and economic well-being of women in the global 
recovery from COVID-19. The transfer is accounted for as 
deferred revenue and will be recognized as revenues when 
the associated expenses are incurred.

Donor contributions revenue
Donors provide contributions to either research programs 
or specific projects. Donor funds received pursuant to a 
co-funding agreement are recognized as donor contribution 
revenue over the life of the agreement when the related 

expenses are incurred. Consequently, while projects funded 
by donor contributions significantly contribute to advancing 
our mandate, their impact on net results and year-end equity 
is limited. 

Donor contributions revenue fluctuates year-over-year. These 
fluctuations are linked to the phase in the lifecycle of the 
programs. The pattern of the revenues is typically low at the 
initial phase of the programs, becomes more significant as 
the programs are ramping up and then decreased in the final 
phase of the programs.

Donor contribution revenues increased by $9.4 million 
(16.5%) when compared to 2020–2021 and they were 
$4.4 million (6.2%) lower than budgeted (see Table 2). The 
expenses section, specifically the development research 
programming expenses discussion, provides information on 
the variances. 

The distribution of the revenues from donor contributions is 
shown in Figure 3.

Investment and other income revenues
In 2021–2022, the investment and other revenues represent 
0.6% or $1.3 million of revenues compared to $0.6 million in 
2020–2021. This includes refunds on closed projects where 
the donor authorized IDRC to retain the leftover funding, 
exchange gains and interest generated from investments.

TABLE 1: REVENUES

($000) Budget review Variance

Parliamentary appropriation 148 611 155 251 (6 640) (4.3%) 145 653 2 958 2.0%

Donor contributions 66 283 70 691 (4 408) (6.2%) 56 897 9 386 16.5%

Investment and other income 1 267  626  641 102.4%  567  700 123.5%

Total revenues 216 161 226 568 (10 407) (4.6%) 203 117 13 044 6.4 %

a  $ and % change actual in 2021–2022 over 2020–2021.
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Financial position
Our financial position is summarized in Figure 4. Most assets 
are in cash and derived from the cycle of funding received 
for donor-funded programs or related investments. Liabilities 
are fully funded by revenues and contain a large portion of 
deferred revenue, which represents donor funds received but 
not yet recognized as revenue. Assets and liabilities did not 
require adjustments.

Total assets increased by 28.7% to $120.2 million (from $93.4 
million as at 31 March 2021). The Centre invested excess 
liquidities not required in the short-term to earn higher 
interest than can be generated in bank accounts. Most of the 
investments consist of treasury bills, bonds and guaranteed 
investment certificates (refer to Note 3 of the financial 
statements). The increase in accounts receivable and prepaid 
expenses is mostly resulting from donor contributions and 
higher parliamentary appropriation transfers. Cash balances 
decreased primarily due to the purchase of investments. 

Cash and investments held by the Centre total $100.2 million 
at 31 March 2022. These funds are earmarked for specific 
purposes, as follows:

 � Donor contributions received but not yet expensed 
($65.7 million).

 � Funds set aside for future leasehold improvements  
for the Centre’s new head office ($8.7 million).

 � Funds reserved to absorb fluctuations in the 
disbursements of outstanding research project 
commitments ($5.9 million).

 � Funds received from the Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research and the Social Sciences and Humanities 
Research Council in support of the women’s health  
and economic well-being for a post-COVID-19 recovery 
($6.6 million).

 � The balance related to the under-spending on research 
expenses in the 2021–2022 financial year. These funds will 
be spent on projects in the 2022–2023 financial year.

Total liabilities increased by 16.0% to $89.4 million (from 
$77.1 million as at 31 March 2021).  This increase is mainly 
explained by a higher amount of deferred revenues liabilities 
for projects and programs funded by donor contributions 
due to recently signed donor contribution agreements, 
including the Climate Adaptation and Resilience Initiative 
phase II, the Joint Canada-Israel Health Research Program 
phase II, Strengthening the Roles of Science Granting 
Councils and Catalyzing change for healthy and sustainable 
food. Deferred revenues are also higher as a result of the 
$6.6 million transfer from the Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council to support Canada-developing country research 
on the health and economic well-being of women in the 
global recovery from COVID-19. This increase is partly offset 
by a reduction in lease liabilities due to lease payments. The 
employee benefits amount shown in Figure 4 represents the 
non-current portion; the current portion is included within 
accrued liabilities. 

Our equity consists of four classes: restricted, reserved, 
unrestricted, and net investments in capital assets. The equity 
amount in each class is established in accordance with our 
equity policy.
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TABLE 3: EQUITY

($000) Variance

Unrestricted 12 590 3 417 9 173 - 

Restricted 1 285 7 581 (6 296) 1 291

Net investments in capital assets 1 692 1 220  472 2 333

Reserved 15 189 15 944 ( 755) 12 653

Total equity 30 756 28 162 2 594 16 277
a % change actual in 2021–2022 over 2020–2021.

2021–2022 2020–2021

Budget

Actual review Actual

TABLE 3: EQUITY

Capital Assets

($000)

 Leasehold improvements 1 306                

 Computer equipment  271                   

 Office furniture, equipment and vehicles  73                     

 Software  39                     

 Communication systems  3                        

Total property, equipment and intangible assets 1 692                

2021–2022

TABLE 4: CAPITAL ASSETS

Restricted equity is stable at $1.3 million. The balance 
represents funds for the John G. Bene Fellowship ($1.2 
million) and funds received for the David and Ruth Hopper 
& Ramesh and Pilar Bhatia Canada bursaries used to support 
young researchers from Canada, India and the Philippines in 
the early stages of their careers, particularly women, through 
fellowships, scholarships or internships ($0.1 million). 

We increased our reserved equity to $15.2 million at 31 
March 2022. The reserved equity is important for several 
reasons: to absorb fluctuations in the disbursement of 
outstanding research project commitments, which are 
dependent on the performance of recipients; to fund 
initiatives outside of normal operations; and for future 
investments in property, equipment and intangibles. At 
31 March 2022, a total of $8.7 million was set aside in the 
reserved equity for future leasehold improvements of our 
head office space, where the current lease expires in October 
2022. An amount of $5.9 million is reserved to absorb 
fluctuations in the disbursements of outstanding research 
project commitments. The balance of the reserved equity is 
to fund initiatives outside of normal operations.

The unrestricted equity represents the residual balance of 
equity after the allotments to restricted and reserved equity 
and reflects all variances from revenues and expenses. The 
balance at 31 March 2022 is $12.6 million. This balance is 
primarily due to the timing of research expenses in the 
2021–2022 financial year and is expected to be used during 
the 2022–2023 financial year.

The $1.7 million net investments in capital assets 
segregates the portion of the equity representing our net 
investments in capital assets. This category of equity matches 
the value of property, equipment and intangible assets as 
reported in the statement of financial position. The balance 
decreased by $0.6 million year-over-year as amortization 
and depreciation exceeded capital asset purchases. The net 
investments in capital assets are broken down by type of 
asset in Table 4.

12 590 (100.0%)

( 6) 0.5 %

( 641) 37.9 %

2 536 (16.7%)

14 479 (47.1%)

$ change % change

actual a actual a
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Other key financial information
Figure 5 shows the value of outstanding commitments on 
research projects for the five previous financial years, as well 
as the projected value for the 2022–2023 financial year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Centre is committed to disburse up 
to $237.8 million for development research programming 
activities. It is anticipated that the funds will be disbursed 
over the next six years. These commitments are subject to 
funds provided by Parliament and by donors on co-funded 
agreements. They are also subject to the compliance of 
recipients with the terms and conditions of their grant 
agreements. 

While the total amount of outstanding commitments 
fluctuates annually due to new donor contribution 
agreements, management aims to keep the level of 
outstanding commitments funded by parliamentary 
appropriation relatively stable over time. The rise in 2022–
2023 is attributable to the increase in program allocations 
funded by recurring parliamentary appropriation, which is 
driven by scheduled increases in revenues and expenses. We 
continuously monitor the level of outstanding commitments 

funded by parliamentary appropriation to ensure it  
remains proportionate to the level of the recurring  
annual appropriation.

Table 5 below provides a historical review of IDRC  
for the last five financial years for the expenses and  
revenues found on the Statement of Comprehensive  
Income, as well as information on program allocations  
and outstanding commitments.

FIGURE 5: OUTSTANDING COMMITMENTS ON RESEARCH 
PROJECTS 

a The amount was adjusted to reflect the 2021–2022 presentation (refer to Note 22 of the financial statements).

TABLE 5: HISTORICAL REVIEW 
Historical review

($000)

Statement of comprehensive income

Expenses

Development research programming

Research projects funded by parliamentary appropriation 89 910 98 433

Research projects funded by donor contributions 56 158 47 095

Enhancing research capabilities 34 689 38 204 a

Development research programming 180 757 183 732

Corporate and administrative services 20 925 21 015 a

201 682 204 747

Revenues

Parliamentary appropriation 148 611 145 654

Donor contributions 66 283 56 897

Investment and other income 1 267  567

216 161 203 117

Net results of operations 14 479 (1 630)

Other financial information

Program allocations

Development research programming

Funded by recurring parliamentary appropriation 129 951 100 386

Funded by donor contributions 36 721 66 992

Outstanding commitments

Funded by parliamentary appropriation 159 060 131 899

Funded by donor contributions 78 706 84 917

2021–2022 2020–2021

Actual

88 661 99 084 88 783

41 688 42 976 50 433

43 322 45 756 46 653

173 671 187 816 185 869

18 302 17 828 19 837

191 973 205 644 205 706

142 907 140 366 139 952

51 637 54 256 61 791

1 191 1 210 1 753

195 735 195 832 203 496

3 762 (9 812) (2 210)

99 431 97 064 101 433

66 945 49 186 45 519

134 835 126 500 139 555

62 564 50 888 64 361

2017–2018

Actual

2019–2020 2018–2019
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Outlook
We conduct forward-looking financial planning using 
conservative assumptions for both revenues and expenses 
while maintaining a focus on maximizing parliamentary-
funded project funding. Management will continue to focus 
on allocating operational expenses to meet organizational 
needs under Strategy 2030 while ensuring the efficient use 
of financial resources to create impact and add value. The 
2022–2023 budget reflects the continuation of the COVID-19 
pandemic and assumes that while the COVID pandemic will 

continue, several in-person activities will resume. As such, the 
impacts of the continued COVID pandemic are expected to 
be low to moderate. Management will continue to monitor 
the restrictions imposed by the pandemic.

Table 6 presents the financial outlook, providing an overview 
of the expenses, revenues, allocations and equity forecasts for 
the 2022–2023 financial year.

TABLE 6: FINANCIAL OUTLOOKTABLE 6:  FINANCIAL OUTLOOK

($000)

Statement of comprehensive income items

Expenses

Development research programming

  Research projects funded by parliamentary appropriation 89 910 107 612

  Research projects funded by donor contributions 56 158 72 639

  Enhancing research capabilities 34 689 45 845

Corporate and administrative services 20 925 25 289

201 682 251 385

Revenues
Parliamentary appropriation 148 611 153 701
Donor contributions 66 283 86 592
Investment and other income 1 267  353

216 161 240 646

Net results of operations 14 479 (10 739)

Equity

Unrestricted 12 590  75

Restricted 1 285 7 823

Net investments in capital assets 1 692 3 489

Reserved 15 189 6 036

30 756 17 423

Project management items

Allocations funded by parliamentary appropriation 129 951 135 654

Allocations funded by donor contributions 36 721 76 213

2021–2022 2022–2023

Actual Budget
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Expenses outlook
The expense budget reflects the continued pandemic and 
our initial efforts to reduce its carbon footprint with measures 
such as continuing to leverage a hybrid digital and in-person 
approach of interacting with stakeholders, partners and 
grantees, and rethinking how and when travel occurs. We will 
make programming decisions in line with Strategy 2030 and 
in support of Canada’s foreign policy and development goals. 
Total expenses are budgeted to increase to $251.4 million 
(compared to actual expenses of $201.7 million in 2021–2022, 
see Table 6).

Research project expenses are expected to be $180.3 million 
(compared to $146.1 million in 2021–2022). It is budgeted 
that parliamentary-funded research project expenses will 
increase by $17.7 million as a result of increased program 
allocations in prior years, as well as the additional funds 
transferred from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research 
and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council to 
support women’s health and economic well-being for a post-
COVID-19 recovery. Donor-funded research project expenses 
will substantially increase from $56.2 million to $72.6 million 
in 2022–2023 as a result of increased programming activity 
in a few large ongoing and new donor-funded programs 
such as the Global Partnership for Education Knowledge and 
Innovation Exchange, the Joint Canada-Israel Health Research 
Program Phase II, and the Climate and Resilience Framework 
Program Phase II.

Management continues to regularly assess, monitor and 
mitigate, where possible, the effects of the pandemic on 
grantees and the resulting influence on research expenses.   

Expenses related to enhancing research capabilities are 
budgeted to increase from $34.7 million in 2021–2022 
to $45.8 million in 2022–2023 (see Table 6). Project 
operational expenses funded by donor contributions and by 
parliamentary appropriation are increasing given the planned 
activity in new and large donor-funded programs. In addition, 
our 2022–2023 budget increase is related to one-time 
expenses for the new head office space, resumption of travel 
and higher salaries and benefits due to fewer vacant positions 
being foreseen.

Corporate and administrative services expenses are expected 
to increase by $4.4 million in 2022–2023 (see Table 6). This 
increase is primarily attributed to the new head office space 
one-time expenses (such as furniture and technological 
equipment). 

We will continue to follow recommendations of the Public 
Health Agency of Canada relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Management will continue to focus on the health, safety 
and security of employees as it implements a plan to restart 
working from all office locations. 

Revenue outlook
Our total parliamentary appropriation is anticipated to be 
$153.7 million in 2022–2023, $5.1 million higher than in 
2021–2022 (see Table 6). This is related to the transfers from 
the Canadian Institutes for Health Research and the Social 
Sciences and Humanities Research Council to support 
Canada-developing country research on the health and 
economic well-being of women in the global recovery from 
COVID-19. It is also related to an increase of $2.3 million in 
the recurring parliamentary appropriation due to previous 
commitments from the Government of Canada to strengthen 
our presence in West Africa and to enhance programming 
across West Africa and la Francophonie.

In 2022–2023, donor contribution revenues are budgeted 
to increase to $86.6 million (compared to $66.3 million in 
2021–2022), which reflects current and anticipated co-
funding agreements and their associated project milestones. 
A large portion (71.8%) of this amount is expected to come 
from co-funding agreements signed and ongoing as at 31 
March 2022. The majority of funding from these agreements 
comes from the following donors: the Global Partnership 
for Education Fund, Global Affairs Canada, the Swedish 
International Development Cooperation Agency, the Foreign, 
Commonwealth and Development Office, the Bill & Melinda 
Gates Foundation and the Rockefeller Foundation. 

The figure below shows the status of donor contributions 
as at 31 March 2022 and distinguishes revenue already 
recognized versus future revenue.

As at 31 March 2022, we manage co-funding agreements 
valued at $454.6 million (see Figure 6). Of this amount, $194.7 
million has been recognized as revenue. This leaves a balance 
of $259.9 million, which represents donor contribution 
revenue for the next three to five years. Signing new co-
funding agreements in the future replenishes this future 
revenue source. Our donor collaboration activities over 
the course of the 2022–2023 financial year will focus on 
establishing new and diverse co-funding partnerships to 
expand resources and impact to meet Strategy 2030 goals.
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Financial statements 
 
 
Management Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 
 
The financial statements and all other financial information presented in this Annual Report are the 
responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Governors. Management has 
prepared the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and, 
where appropriate, the financial statements include amounts that reflect management’s best estimates 
and judgment. Financial information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with the 
information presented in the financial statements.  
  
Management is responsible for the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and accounting 
systems from which they are derived. The Centre maintains an internal control framework to provide 
reasonable assurance that the financial information is reliable, transactions are authorized and recognized, 
assets are safeguarded, and liabilities recognized. Management also ensures that resources are managed 
economically and efficiently in the attainment of corporate objectives and that operations are carried out 
in accordance with the International Development Research Centre Act and by-law of the Centre.  
  
Responsibilities of the Centre’s internal auditors incorporate reviewing internal controls, including 
accounting and financial controls and their application. The Auditor General of Canada conducts an 
independent audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. The audit includes appropriate tests and procedures to enable the Auditor General of 
Canada to express an opinion on the financial statements. The internal and external auditors have full and 
free access to the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board.  
  
The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and internal control. The Board benefits from the assistance of its Finance and Audit Committee 
in overseeing and discharging its financial oversight responsibility, which includes the review of the 
financial statements with management and the external auditors before recommending their approval to 
the Board. The Committee, which is made up of independent governors, meets with management, the 
internal auditors and the external auditors on a regular basis.  
  
On behalf of management,  
 
 
 
 
 
Geneviève Leguerrier Richard Danis 
Acting President Director, Finance and Administration, 
  and Deputy Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
Ottawa, Canada 
22 June 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the International Development Research Centre and to the Minister of International 
Development 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the International Development Research Centre 
(the Centre), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Centre as at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Centre 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of 
this auditor’s report is the Management’s discussion and analysis included in the annual report, but 
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.  
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Centre’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Centre or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Centre’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Centre’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Centre’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial  
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statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Centre to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Compliance with Specified Authorities 

Opinion 

In conjunction with the audit of the financial statements, we have audited transactions of 
the International Development Research Centre coming to our notice for compliance with 
specified authorities. The specified authorities against which compliance was audited are the 
applicable provisions of Part X of the Financial Administration Act and regulations, the International 
Development Research Centre Act and the by-laws of the International Development Research 
Centre. 

In our opinion, the transactions of the International Development Research Centre that came to our 
notice during the audit of the financial statements have complied, in all material respects, with the 
specified authorities referred to above. Further, as required by the Financial Administration Act, 
we report that, in our opinion, the accounting principles in IFRSs have been applied on a basis 
consistent with that of the preceding year. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Specified Authorities 

Management is responsible for the International Development Research Centre’s compliance with 
the specified authorities named above, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the International Development Research Centre to comply with the specified 
authorities. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance with Specified Authorities 

Our audit responsibilities include planning and performing procedures to provide an audit opinion 
and reporting on whether the transactions coming to our notice during the audit of the financial 
statements are in compliance with the specified authorities referred to above.  

 

Mimma Venema, CPA, CA, CGA 
Principal 
for the Auditor General of Canada 

Ottawa, Canada 
22 June 2022 
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Statement of Financial Position 
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 as at 31 March 
 

              

     2022  2021 

Assets           
         
Current        
 Cash (Note 2)  40 075   77 262  

 
Cash equivalents (Note 3) 
Investments (Note 3)  

25 000 
4 999   

— 
—)  

 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (Note 4)  14 533   6 964  

    84 607   84 226  

Non-current       
 Investments (Note 3)  30 121   —)  
 Property and equipment (Note 5)  1 653   2 182  

 Intangible assets (Note 6)  39    151  
 Right-of-use assets (Note 7)  3 749    6 791   
    120 169    93 350   
         
Liabilities       

         
Current        

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8)  18 477   16 729  
 Lease liabilities (Note 9)   1 864   2 998  

 Deferred revenue (Note 10)  60 374   45 995   
   

 
80 715    65 722  

Non-current       
 Deferred revenue (Note 10)  5 323   5 992  

 Employee benefits (Note 11)  1 079   1 199  
 Lease liabilities (Note 9)  2 296   777444 160  

   
 

89 413    77 073   
         
Equity         
Unrestricted  12 590   —)  

Restricted (Note 12)  1 285   1 291  
Net investments in capital assets (Notes 5 and 6)  1 692   2 333  

Reserved  
 

15 189   12 653  

    30 756    16 277   
         

    120 169    93 350   
         

  Commitments (Note 13) 
  Contingencies (Note 14) 
 
  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
  These financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors on 22 June 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dorothy Nyambi    Hilary Rose 
Chairperson    Chairperson 
Board of Governors   Finance and Audit Committee  
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
for the year ended 31 March 
 

       
     2022   2021 

Expenses       
Development research programming (Notes 15 and 22)       
 Research projects funded by parliamentary appropriation (Note 16)  89 910)   98 433)   
 Research projects funded by donor contributions (Note 16)  56 158)   47 095)  
 Enhancing research capabilities  34 689)   38 204)  

     180 757)   183 732)  
       
Corporate and administrative services (Notes 15 and 22)  20 925)    21 015)    
       
Total expenses  201 682)    204 747)    
          
 
Revenues       
Donor contributions (Note 17)  66 283)   56 897)  
Investment and other income  1 267)         567)  
  67 550)   57 464))   
       
Cost of operations before parliamentary appropriation  (134 132)   (147 283))  
       
Parliamentary appropriation (Note 17)  148 611)   145 653))  

             
Net results of operations  14 479)    (1 630)  

          
  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
for the year ended 31 March 
 

     

 

2022  2021 
Unrestricted equity        
Beginning of year   —)  

 —))  

 Net results of operations   14 479)   (1 630)  
 Net transfers (to) from other classes of equity  (1 889)   1 630)  
Balance end of year   12 590)    —))   

          
Restricted equity        
Beginning of year   1 291)   1 275)  
 Net (decrease) increase   (6)    16)  
Balance end of year   1 285)    1 291)   

          
Net investments in capital assets       
Beginning of year   2 333)   4 238)  
 Net decrease  (641)    (1 905)   
Balance end of year   1 692)    2 333)   
          
Reserved equity         
Beginning of year   12 653)   12 394)  
 Net transfers from other classes of equity   2 536)  )  259)  
Balance end of year   15 189)    12 653)   

            
Equity, end of year   30 756)    16 277   

            
  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
for the year ended 31 March  
 

            

      2022  2021 

Operating activities        
Net results of operations   14 479)   (1 630)   

           
Adjustments to determine net cash (used in)/from operating activities       
 Amortization and depreciation of intangible assets        
  and property and equipment   1 200)  ) 1 700)  
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets  3 042)   3 102)  
 Amortization of investment premiums  117)   —)  
 Loss on disposal of property and equipment and intangible assets   155)   232)  
 Employee benefits   (120)   (28)  
      4 394   5 006)  
Change in non-cash operating items        
 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses          4 106   (4 629)  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   1 285)   314)  
 Deferred revenue   2 035)   (1,190)  
    7 426)   (5 505)   
           
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities   26 299   (2,129)  
           
Investing activities        
Purchase of investments    (37 757)   —)  

Maturity of investments   2 520)   —)  
Acquisition of property and equipment  (251)   (27)  
       
Cash flows used in investing activities   (35 488)   (27)   

           
Financing activities       
Payment of lease liabilities  (2 998)   (2 962)  
       
Cash flows used in financing activities  (2 998)   (2 962)  
       
Decrease in cash  (12 187)   (5 118)  
           
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year   77 262)   82 380)  
           
Cash and cash equivalents end of year   65 075)              77 262)   

           
 
   

 
        

 
Supplementary Information (Note 21) 
Comparative Figures (Note 22) 
 
 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

1. Basis of Preparation 
A) General Information 
The International Development Research Centre (the Centre or IDRC), a Canadian Crown corporation without share capital, is not an 
agent of Her Majesty and was established as a registered charity in 1970 by the Parliament of Canada through the International 
Development Research Centre Act.  
 
The Centre is funded primarily through an annual appropriation received from the Parliament of Canada. In accordance with 
section 85(1.1) of the Financial Administration Act, the Centre is exempt from Divisions I to IV of Part X of the Act, except for 
sections 89.8 to 89.92, subsection 105(2) and sections 113.1, 119, 131 to 148 and 154.01.  
 
The mandate of the Centre is to initiate, encourage, support and conduct research into the problems of the developing regions of 
the world and into the means for applying and adapting scientific, technical and other knowledge to the economic and social 
advancement of those regions. 

 
B) Basis of preparation 
These financial statements prepared by the Centre comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis except for 
investments, which are measured at amortized cost and certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value through 
profit and loss.  
 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Centre. All values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand ($000) except where otherwise indicated. 
 
C) Significant Accounting policies 
The significant accounting policies are presented in these financial statements in the appropriate section of these notes. These 
accounting policies have been used throughout all periods presented in the financial statements unless otherwise disclosed.  
 
D) Significant Judgements and Estimates 
In the process of applying the Centre’s accounting policies and the application of accounting standards, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions with regards to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
considered relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. These judgements, estimates and assumptions affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the year. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates, or changes in the significant judgments made, could result in 
adjustments to the disclosed amounts of the assets or liabilities in future years.  
 
Information about judgements, estimates and assumptions that are relevant to understanding these financial statements are 
disclosed in the relevant notes as follows: 

 
- Credit risk (Note 4 Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses) 
- Useful lives of assets (Note 5 Property and equipment) 
- Measurement of borrowing rates (Note 7 Right-of-use assets) 
- Factors for determining employee benefits (Note 11 Employee benefits) 
- Provisions and contingent liabilities (Note 14 Contingencies) 
- Financial instruments risks (Note 19 Financial instruments and related risks) 

 
The judgments, estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.  
 
E) Taxation 
The Centre is exempt from the payment of income tax, as per section 149 of the Income Tax Act. 
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F) COVID-19 pandemic 
The Centre continued operations without major disruptions and changes throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. The Centre’s 
operations were impacted by the World Health Organization’s declaration of a global pandemic related to COVID-19, to the extent 
that all operations became virtual in all locations through working remotely due to public health directives. The main operational 
impacts of the pandemic were a decrease in travel due to imposed travel restrictions; research project expenses funded by 
parliamentary appropriation were lower than anticipated at the beginning of the year due to COVID-19-related delays and the 
timing of initial payments on new projects, which occurred later than originally planned; and research project expenses funded by 
donors were lower than originally anticipated at the beginning of the year due to delays in certain research activities due to several 
large programs encountering delays related to the pandemic. Management continues to regularly assess, monitor and mitigate, 
where possible, the effects of the pandemic on grantees and the resulting impact on research expenses. IDRC has considered the 
impact on the financial statements to be immaterial and do not affect the carrying value of assets and liabilities.   
 
- The Centre’s assumptions about the future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have been considered when measuring credit 

risk and impairment of assets and liabilities. No adjustments were required.    
- The Centre’s main source of funding, parliamentary appropriation, is unaffected.  
- Impacts on donor revenues and agreements are minimal.  
- The Centre has not applied for any wage or rent subsidies from the Government of Canada.  
 
The Centre continues to monitor the risks and ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on its operations and programs.  
 
G) Application of new accounting standards  

 
I. New standards, amendments and interpretations that took effect in 2021 

 
Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases: On 31 March 2021, the IASB published "Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
(Amendment to IFRS 16)" that extends, by one year, the May 2020 amendment that provides lessees with an exemption from 
assessing whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification provided the other conditions in IFRS 16 for applying 
the exemption are met. The Centre has experienced one rent concession in the form of a rent reduction from May 2020 to November 
2021 due to COVID-19 related orders in Uruguay. The rent consideration was reduced by 25% with no future repayment required. 
There were no other changes to the terms of the lease. The Centre applied the practical expedient in the period, the impact of which 
was considered immaterial.   
 

II. Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet in effect 
 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements require the disclosure of the material accounting policies rather than 
significant accounting policies. The standard now includes guidance on how to identify material accounting policies stating that an 
accounting policy is material if, when combined with other information within the financial statements, it can reasonably be expected 
to influence the decisions of the primary users of the financial statements. IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements 
has been amended to include guidance on how to apply materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments are to be 
applied prospectively. Management is currently assessing the impact of adopting this amendment on the Centre’s financial 
statements. 
 
There are no other future accounting standards or amendments issued by the IASB that are expected to have a significant impact on 
the Centre’s financial statements. 
 
 

2. Cash  
 
Accounting policy 
Cash includes funds on deposit at financial institutions and nominal petty cash at regional offices. Cash is carried at fair value and its 
performance is actively monitored. Cash not immediately required for working capital can be invested as per the Centre’s 
Investment Policy.  
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3. Investments and cash equivalents 
 
Accounting policy 
Investments consist of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments of principal and interest and fixed 
maturities. Cash equivalents consist of treasury bills with a maturity of less than 90 days. The Centre’s business model is to hold the 
investments and cash equivalents until maturity to collect the contractual cash flows. The Centre currently holds listed bonds, 
guaranteed investment certificates and treasury bills that are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the investments are 
derecognized, modified or impaired. The Centre has an investment policy approved by the Finance and Audit Committee of the 
Board. Interest income is accrued when earned and included in income for the year.  
 
Supporting information 
The Centre’s investment portfolios consist of Canadian, provincial and corporate bonds with effective interest rates ranging from 
0.53% to 3.20% (coupon rates ranging from 1.40% to 7.35%), guaranteed investment certificates (GICs) with fixed interest rates 
ranging from 0.50% to 1.40%, and treasury bills with yields ranging from 0.56% to 0.70%. The maturity dates of the bonds vary from 
February 2024 to March 2031, those of the GICs vary from April 2023 to April 2026 and the treasury bills vary from June 2022 to July 
2022.  
 
The net book value, measured at amortized cost, and fair value of these investments, are shown in the following tables. The fair 
values of the investments can be determined by (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1); (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., 
prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (Level 2); or (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3). The fair values of the Centre’s investments are not quoted in an active market, but rather are 
determined from quoted prices in a decentralized over-the-counter market, which is considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
 

     

  Net book value at 
amortized cost  
31 March 2022  

Fair Value  
31 March 2022 

     Bonds      
           Federal   2 998   2 754  
           Provincial   10 257   9 687  
           Corporate   3 962   3 743  
           Municipal   904   865  
       Total bonds   18 121   17 049   
        
       Guaranteed investment certificates     12 000   12 100  
       Treasury bills – less than 90 days (cash equivalents)   25 000   25 000  
       Treasury bills – more than 90 days   4 999   4 998  

          60 120   59 147  
 

 
  



ADVANCING GENDER EQUALIT Y THROUGH RESEARCH 57

Effective interest rates and maturity terms   
 

 Effective Interest 
Rate 

  
Within one 

year 

  After one 
year but no 
more than 
five years 

  
More than 
five years   Total   

  Bonds:                      
        Federal  1.85%)   —    —    2 998   2 998  

        Provincial 0.53% to 2.06%   —    2 602   7 655   10 257  

        Corporate 1.84% to 3.20%   —     994   2 968   3 962  

        Municipal 2.31%    —     —       904     904   
  Total Bonds    —    3 596   14 525   18 121  

               
   Guaranteed investment certificates        0.50% to 1.40%)   —    12 000   —    12 000  

Treasury bills – less than 90 days     
(cash equivalents) 0.56%   25 000   —    —    25 000  

   Treasury bills – more than 90 days 0.70%)   4 999    —      —     4 999    
    29 999    15 596    14 525    60 120   

 
 

4. Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 
 
Accounting policy 
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses are incurred in the normal course of business. The accounts receivable are due upon 
issuance and the carrying values approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments.  
 
Accounting estimates and judgements 
These are not considered by management to present a significant credit risk. The Centre did not identify any receivables that are 
either past due or impaired as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: nil).   
 
Supporting information 
 

       31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
     Accounts receivable      
           Parliamentary appropriation   6 640   3 804  
           Donor contributions   5 035   —   
           Other   1 637   1 719  
   13 312   5 523  
       Prepaid expenses   1 221    1 441  

       Total accounts receivable and prepaid expenses   14 533   6 964  
 
 

5. Property and equipment  
 
Accounting policy 
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost 
includes any expenditure directly related to the acquisition of the asset, dismantling costs to remove the items and restoring the site 
on which they are located. All maintenance expenditures are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.  

 
Property and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives once the assets are available for use by the Centre and are 
recognized on a straight-line basis. The estimated useful life of each asset category is as follows: 
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Asset category  Useful life 
Computer equipment 5 years 
Office furniture and equipment 5 years 
Vehicles  3 to 7 years 
Communication systems 5 years 
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term or the asset’s useful economic life 
 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use 
or disposal.  
 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property or equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of said asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is 
derecognized. The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end and 
adjusted prospectively when necessary. 
 
An assessment is made annually as to whether an asset or a group of assets contained in this category is impaired. Any adjustment 
to the carrying value of the asset is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Accounting estimates and judgements 
The following are key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the financial statements within the next 12 months: 

• Useful lives are assessed annually and are based on management’s best estimates of the period of service provided by the 
assets. 

• Changes to useful life estimates would affect future depreciation expenses and the future carrying value of assets. 
 

Supporting information 
 

  

Computer 
equipment 

 
Office 

furniture & 
equipment 

 
Vehicles 

 
Communication 

systems 
 Leasehold 

improvements 

 
Total 

Cost  
  at 31 March 2021  1 963)   796)   210)   671)   11 266)   14 906) 
  Additions  —)   —    —    —    738)   738) 
  Adjustments  —)   —    —    —    (24)   (24) 
  Disposals  (7)   —)   —    (9)   (834)   (850) 
  at 31 March 2022   1 956)   796)   210)   662)   11 146)   14 770) 
                  
Accumulated depreciation                  
  at 31 March 2021  (1 525)   (777)   (138)   (627)   (9 657)   (12 724) 
  Depreciation for                  
    the year  (167)   (11)   (7)   (40)   (865)   (1 090) 
  Disposals  7)   —))   —    8    682    697) 
  at 31 March 2022  (1 685)   (788)   (145)   (659)   (9 840)   (13 117) 
                  Net book value                  
  at 31 March 2021  438)   19)   72)   44)   1 609)    2 182) 
  at 31 March 2022  271)   8)   65)   3)   1 306)   1 653) 

 
 At 31 March 2022, the Centre had no impairment of property and equipment. 

 
 

6. Intangible assets 
 
Accounting policy 
The Centre’s intangible assets consist of software that is not an integral part of any hardware. The software is initially recorded at 
cost, which includes the cost of material and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the software to a working state for its 
intended use. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. The amortization period and method for intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year-end. 
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Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful life of items in this asset 
class ranges from 3 to 5 years. 
 
An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  
 
The amortization expense is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. An assessment is made annually as to whether 
an intangible or a group of intangible assets is impaired. Any adjustment to the carrying value of the asset is recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  
 
Supporting information 

  Software 
Cost   
  at 31 March 2021  11 409) 
  Additions  —) 
  Disposals  (10 909) 
  at 31 March 2022  500) 
   
Accumulated amortization   
  at 31 March 2021  (11 258) 
  Amortization for the year  (110) 
  Disposals  10 907) 
  at 31 March 2022  (461) 
   
Net book value   
  at 31 March 2021  151) 
  at 31 March 2022  39) 

At 31 March 2022, the Centre had no impairment of intangible assets.  
 
 

7. Right-of-use assets 
 
Accounting policy 
The Centre leases office space in six countries in the normal course of its business. The average base lease term for office space is 
four years. At the inception of a contract, the Centre assesses whether the contract is or contains a lease that conveys the right to 
use an asset for a period in exchange for considerations. The Centre recognizes a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease 
liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is a lessee, except for low-value leases such as information technology 
equipment or leases with a term of 12 months or less. The Centre applies the recognition exemption for these leases where the lease 
payments of these contracts are accounted for as furniture, equipment and maintenance expenses under corporate and 
administrative services expenses in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease (see 
note 15). The Centre uses a practical expedient in the standard to not separate non-lease components from lease components.  
 
The right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which includes the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of the dismantling costs to restore the underlying asset.  
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease terms on a straight-line basis. The lease term includes periods covered by an 
option to extend if the Centre is reasonably certain to exercise the option. At the end of each reporting period, an assessment is 
performed to determine whether there is any indication that right-of-use assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the right-of-use asset is estimated and an impairment expense is recognized if the carrying value of the 
right-of-use asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Accounting estimates and judgements 
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities vary depending on the economic environment in which the lease was 
entered into, the country-specific risk-free rate and the lease term. The incremental borrowing rates represent the applicable rate 
had the Centre borrowed funds over a similar term with a similar asset in a similar economic environment. The rate is calculated 
using various inputs as the Centre does not borrow. 
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Supporting information 
The Centre calculated the lease liabilities using the incremental borrowing rate of between 2.7% and 13.5%. The weighted average 
rate at 31 March 2022 is 7.01% (31 March 2021: 5.34%).  
 
 

 31 March 2022    31 March 2021 
Cost    
   Leases beginning of year 13 168)   13 168)  
   Additions —)   —)))  
 13 168)   13 168)  
      
Accumulated depreciation )     
   Beginning of year (6 377)   (3 275)  
   Depreciation expense for the year (3 042)   (3 102)  
 (9 419)   (6 377)  
      
Net book value end of year 3 749)   6 791)  

 
 
The Centre incurred $3 of expenses related to leases of low-value assets for which the recognition exemption was applied.   
 
The Centre had an 11-month lease for office space in India that ended on 31 March 2022, for which the recognition exemption for 
short-term leases was applied. The value of this lease was $206 and the Centre incurred $202 of expenses related to this short-term 
lease. 
 
During the financial year, two lease agreements were signed: one for the Centre’s office space in Jordan and one for the office space 
in India. The Jordan lease commenced on 1 November 2021 for a duration of one year. Therefore, the recognition exemption for 
short-term leases was applied. The total value of the lease is $40, and the Centre incurred $17 of expenses related to this short-term 
lease. The India lease will commence on 1 April 2022 for a duration of 11 months, therefore the recognition exemption for short-term 
leases will also be applied. The total value of this lease is $280. No expenses were incurred during the year for this lease.  
 
During the prior financial year, a lease agreement was signed for the Centre’s office space in Ottawa. This lease will commence on 
1 November 2022, which coincides with the end of the current lease in Ottawa. The future cash outflow of this 15-year lease is 
$24.6 million. The right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability will be established upon commencement of the lease. Estimated 
operating costs associated with this lease are included in commitments (see note 13).  
 
 

8. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Accounting policy 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are incurred in the normal course of operations. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are 
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are recognized 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.  
 
Supporting information 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of the Centre principally comprise amounts outstanding for purchases relating to corporate 
activities, grants due to be paid under agreements and accruals for employee paid annual leave and overtime. The carrying amounts 
set out below approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these liabilities. 

 
 31 March 2022    31 March 2021 
    
 Grant payables and accruals 9 196   7 163  
 Trade payables 4 695   4 771  
 Payroll 4 198   4 416  
 Severance benefit (Note 11) 62    53  
 Other 326   326  
 18 477   16 729  
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9. Lease liabilities 

Accounting policy   
Lease liabilities are comprised of amounts owing for right-of-use assets. At the commencement date, the lease liability is accounted 
for at the present value of the fixed future lease payments. Subsequent to the commencement date, the liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate if the lease term changes. The lease payments are discounted 
using the Centre’s notional incremental borrowing rate.   
 

 31 March 2022    31 March 2021 
    
   Beginning of year 7 158)   10 120)  
   Additions —))   —))  
   Interest expense 330)   420)  
   Lease payments (3 328)   (3 382)  
 4 160)   7 158)  
      
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position )     
   Current 1 864)   2 998))  
   Non-current (after one year, but not more than five)  1 090)   2 637))  
   Non-current (more than five years) 1 206)   1 523))  
 4 160)   7 158))  
 

 
 31 March 2022    31 March 2021 
Maturity analysis of contractual undiscounted cash flows       
   Current 2 111)   3 328))  
   Non-current (after one year, but not more than five)  1 813)   3 465))  
   Non-current (more than five years) 1 449)   1 907))  
 5 373)   8 700))  

 
 
10. Deferred revenue 

 
Deferred revenue includes the unspent portion of funds received or receivable on donor contribution activities and the unspent 
portion of certain parliamentary appropriations received for specific projects and programs.  
 
Supporting information 
 

a. Donor contribution funding for development research programming 
 

    31 March 2022   31 March 2021 
    

   Current 53 734   45 995  
   Non-current 5 323   5 992  

 59 057   51 987  
 

Of the total deferred donor contribution funding, Global Affairs Canada accounts for $9 040 (31 March 2021: $10 683), of which 
$7 040 (31 March 2021: $10 683) was received and $2 000 (31 March 2021: $0) is receivable at year-end. 

   
b. Parliamentary appropriations – projects and programs 

   
    31 March 2022   31 March 2021 
    

 Current 6 640   —)  
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c. Total deferred revenues  
    31 March 2022   31 March 2021 
    

Current 60 374   45 995  
   Non-current 5 323   5 992  

 65 697   51 987  

 
11. Employee benefits 

 
Accounting policy  
Pension benefits – head office 
Most employees of the Centre working in its head office are covered by the Public Service Pension Plan (the Plan), a defined benefit 
plan established through legislation and sponsored by the Government of Canada. Contributions are required by both the 
employees and the Centre to cover current service costs. Pursuant to legislation currently in place, the Centre has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions with respect to any past service or funding deficiencies of the Plan. 
Consequently, contributions are recognized as an expense in the year when employees have rendered services and represent the 
total pension obligation of the Centre. 
 
Pension benefits – regional offices 
The Centre offers a number of defined contribution plans that provide pension and other benefits to eligible employees in regional 
offices. The Centre’s contributions reflect the full cost as employer. This amount is currently based on a multiple of an employee’s 
required contribution to the plans. The Centre’s contributions are expensed during the year the service is rendered and represent 
the total obligation of the Centre. 
 
Severance benefit 
Prior to June 2012, the Centre provided a voluntary departure severance benefit to certain of its employees based on years of 
service and final salary. A number of employees have chosen to receive their accumulated severance benefit only at departure from 
the Centre (upon voluntary resignation or retirement).  

 
Management determines the remaining accrued obligation for voluntary severance benefits using an actuarial valuation that is 
conducted annually. The most recent actuarial valuation was completed for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

 
Sick leave benefit 
The Centre allows employees a number of fully paid sick days in each year. Unused sick days can be accumulated indefinitely but do 
not vest in that they cannot be paid out in cash or used as vacation. Management determines the accrued obligation for sick leave 
benefits using an actuarial valuation that is conducted annually. The most recent actuarial valuation was completed for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. The Centre presents the benefit as a current liability. 
 
Accounting estimates and judgments 
Employee benefit obligations to be settled in the future require assumptions to establish the benefit obligations. Defined benefit 
accounting is intended to reflect the recognition of the benefit costs over the employee’s approximate service period or when an 
event triggering the benefit entitlement occurs based on the terms of the plan. The significant actuarial assumptions used by the 
Centre in measuring the benefit obligation and benefit costs are the discount rate, mortality tables, and inflation rate, which has an 
impact on the long-term rates of compensation increase. The Centre consults with external actuaries regarding these assumptions 
annually. Changes in these assumptions can have an impact on the defined benefit obligation.    
 
Supporting information 
Pension benefits – head office 
The President of the Treasury Board of Canada sets the required employer contributions based on a multiple of the employees’ 
required contribution. The general contribution rate for the employer effective at year-end was 10.5% of gross salary 
(31 March 2021: 9.7%). Total contributions of $2 847 (31 March 2021: $2 703) were recognized as an expense in the current year.  
 
The Government of Canada holds a statutory obligation for the payment of benefits relating to the Plan. Pension benefits generally 
accrue up to a maximum period of 35 years at an annual rate of 2% of pensionable service times the number of years. The 
pensionable service value is calculated as the average of the best five consecutive years of earnings. The benefits are coordinated 
with the Canada and Québec Pension Plan benefits and are indexed to inflation. 
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Pension benefits – regional offices 
The Centre’s contributions to all regional office plans for the year ended 31 March 2022 were $423 (31 March 2021: $451).  
                   
Severance benefit 
This benefit plan is not pre-funded and thus has no designated assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit 
obligation. Benefits will be paid from available cash assets and future appropriations. 
 

    31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
       
Accrued benefit obligation – end of prior year  1 252)   1 275)  
Current service cost  17)   7)  
Interest cost  35)   42)  
Benefits paid during the year  (156)   (309)  
Actuarial (gain) loss  (7)   237)  
Accrued benefit obligation – end of year  1 141)   1 252)  

 
 

    31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
       
Current  62)    53)  
Non-current  1 079)   1 199)   

  1 141)   1 252)   
 
Sick leave benefit 
The Centre’s sick leave benefit, which is included in current liabilities at 31 March 2022, is $677 (31 March 2021: $673). 

 
 
12. Equity management 

 
The Centre’s equity balances are comprised of unrestricted, restricted, net investments in capital assets, and reserved equity. The 
Centre has an equity management policy in place to ensure that it is appropriately funded and that the equity position is identified, 
measured and managed. 
 
The Centre’s objective, with respect to its equity management, is to ensure that sufficient funds are maintained to adequately 
protect the financial position of the Centre. 
 
Equity is managed through a Board-approved equity policy that restricts a portion of equity to fund special or significant programs 
and operational initiatives planned for future financial years. Management also reserves a portion of equity as a financial planning 
reserve. The financial planning reserve is intended to absorb the impact of significant variances in development research 
programming expenditures. The Centre is not subject to any externally imposed equity requirements. 

 
Supporting information 
Restricted equity 
Restricted equity for special or significant programs and operational initiatives is drawn down as the funds are used for these 
programs and initiatives. In 2011–2012, $1.1 million was set aside in restricted equity as part of an endowment bequeathed to the 
Centre to enable, in perpetuity, the annual awarding of the John G. Bene Fellowship in Community Forestry. In 2016–2017, 
$0.1 million was added to restricted equity for funds received for The David and Ruth Hopper & Ramesh and Pilar Bhatia Canada 
Fund bursaries. These funds are being used to support young researchers in the early stages of their careers, particularly women 
from Canada, India and the Philippines through fellowships, scholarships or internships.  
 
Net investments in capital assets 
This represents the Centre’s net investment in capital assets that will be depreciated or amortized over future accounting periods 
(see Notes 5 and 6). 

 
Reserved equity 
The objectives of the reserved equity are to protect the financial position of the Centre by ensuring that a reasonable balance of 
funds is reserved by management to absorb fluctuations in the disbursement of multi-year outstanding research program 
commitments, and to fund future purchases of property, equipment and intangibles, as well as future initiatives.  
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13.  Commitments 
 
Research project-related 
The Centre is committed to making payments of up to $237.8 million (31 March 2021: $216.8 million) during the next six years, 
subject to funds being provided by Parliament or donors and to compliance by recipients with the terms and conditions of their 
grant agreements. Of this amount, $159.1 million (31 March 2021: $131.9 million) is expected to be funded from future 
parliamentary appropriations and $78.7 million (31 March 2021: $84.9 million) from donor contribution agreements. 
   

    31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
       
Within one year  119 182   106 847  
After one year, but not more than five  117 978   109 969  
More than five years  606   —  
Total future payments  237 766   216 816  

 
   
Other 
The Centre has entered into various agreements for goods and services in Canada and abroad. These agreements expire at different 
dates up to 2037. Future payments related to these commitments are as follows:  
 

    31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
       
Within one year  13 058   9 985  
After one year, but not more than five  10 021   8 565  
More than five years  17 783   19 464  
Total future payments  40 862   38 014  

 
As a result of signing a new lease agreement for office space in Ottawa (see note 7), commitments include estimated operating costs 
of $25.2 million up to 2037. 
 
 

14. Contingencies 
The Centre may, from time to time, be involved in legal proceedings, claims and litigation that arise in the normal course of 
business. Based on the advice of legal counsel, management does not expect the outcome of any of these proceedings to have a 
material effect on the statement of financial position or on the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
As at 31 March 2022, there was one ongoing claim totalling $1.1 million for which a provision has been recorded as a liability 
(31 March 2021: $1.1. million). 
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15. Schedule of Expenses 
 

 

 

a  Includes all costs directly related to the development of research capabilities in co-funded projects and programs. These represent 
total expenses of $6 212 (31 March 2021: $6 990). Enhancing research capabilities expenses represent IDRC’s multifaceted role as 
research funder, adviser, and knowledge broker. This means that IDRC is a research funder and builds recipient capacity throughout the 
research process. 

 
 

16. Grant payments 

Accounting policy 
All grant payments to institutions carrying out research projects approved by the Centre are subject to the provision of funds by 
Parliament or by donors. They are recorded as an expense, either under research projects funded by parliamentary appropriation or 
research projects funded by donor contributions, in the year they come due as per the terms and conditions of the agreements. 
Refunds on previously disbursed grant payments are credited against the current year expenses or to other income in situations 
where the grant account has been closed. 
 

  

     31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
     

Development research programming     
Contributions to institutions and individuals  140 562   140 636  
Core salaries and benefits    22 419     23 085  
Professional services   5 644   5 192  

   Co-funded project salaries and benefits a  5 480   6 189  
   Depreciation of right-of-use assets  2 068   2 203  

Accommodations    1 268   1 901  
Amortization and depreciation of property and 
    equipment and intangible assets 

 877   1 114  

Co-funded project expenses a   732   801  
Meetings and conferences   232   113  
Interest on lease liabilities    224   298  
Travel   144   497  
Other    1 107   1 703  

    180 757   183 732  
       

Corporate and administrative services     
Salaries and benefits    13 285   13 498  
Professional services    2 258   2 889  
Software expenses    1 652   1 158  
Depreciation of right-of-use assets    974   899  
Furniture, equipment, and maintenance    423   282  
Accommodations    398   602  
Amortization and depreciation of property and  
    equipment and intangible assets 

   323   586  

Loss on disposal of property and equipment and                                          
intangible assets 

  155   —  

Interest on lease liabilities    106   122  
Travel   3   2  
Other    1 348   977  

    20 925   21 015  
       

Total expenses    201 682   204 747  
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17. Revenue 

Accounting Policy 
Parliamentary appropriation 
The parliamentary appropriation is recorded as revenue in the year for which it is approved by Parliament. The exception is for those 
funds received for specific projects and programs, which are deferred and recognized as related expenses when they are incurred. 
The Centre does not receive parliamentary appropriations for which the primary condition is that the Centre purchase, construct or 
otherwise acquire property or equipment. Aside from parliamentary appropriations received for specific projects and programs, 
there are no conditions or contingencies existing under which the parliamentary appropriation would be required to be repaid once 
received by the Centre. The IDRC Act gives the Board of Governors the authority to allocate all appropriated funds. 
 
Donor contributions 
The Centre enters into co-funding (contribution) agreements with various donors to complement the Centre’s funding of research 
for development by deepening and broadening its programming reach, increasing resources for development research projects and 
programs, and bringing innovation to scale. The Centre manages donor contributions together with its own contribution funded 
from the parliamentary appropriation. Funds received or receivable under donor contribution agreements are recorded as deferred 
revenues until the Centre complies with the conditions attached to the agreements. These deferred revenues are recognized as 
revenues on a systematic basis in the year in which the expenses are incurred for the purposes they were received.  
 
Supporting information 
 

     31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
        
Approved parliamentary appropriation  155 251   145 653  
Portion deferred for projects and programs  (6 640)   —  
Parliamentary appropriation recognized in the statement of  
      comprehensive income  148 611   145 653  

 
A breakdown of the revenue and expense recognition for donor contributions is provided below.  
 

     31 March 2022  31 March 2021 
        
Global Partnership for Education Fund (GPE)  26 222   17 460  
Global Affairs Canada (GAC)  10 922   13 325  
Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA)  8 300   4 817  
Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation  6 638   5 539  
The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care (DHSC)  3 479   3 655  
The William and Flora Hewlett Foundation  2 408   1 036  
Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO)  1 790   3 931  
Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research  1 707   2 094  
Ministry of Foreign Affairs Netherlands  1 525   2 564  
Rockefeller Foundation  1 564   91  
Other donor agencies    1 728   2 385  
   66 283   56 897  

 
The Centre recovers administrative costs from the management of donor contribution funding. The total recovery for the year ended 
31 March 2022 was $5 782 (31 March 2021: $4 891) of which $977 (31 March 2021: $1 183) was from GAC. 
 
 

18. Related party transactions 

Accounting policy 
The Government of Canada, as the parent of the Centre, has control over the Centre and causes the Centre to be related, due to 
common ownership, to all Government of Canada created departments, agencies, and Crown corporations. The Centre enters into 
transactions with other Government of Canada entities in the normal course of operations, under the same terms and conditions 
that apply to unrelated parties. Any transactions are recorded at their exchange amounts, which are determined to approximate fair 
value. 
 
Related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 10 and 17 to these financial statements.  
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Compensation of key management personnel 
 

Key management personnel include the Board of Governors, the president, and the vice-presidents. Compensation paid or payable 
to key management personnel during the year is summarized in the table below.  

 
     31 March 2022     31 March 2021 
        
Salaries and short-term benefits   1 605   1 460  
Post-employment and termination benefits   185   164  
   1 790   1 624  

 
19. Financial instruments and related risks 

Accounting policy 
The Centre’s financial instruments consist of cash, investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities that are 
incurred in the normal course of business. Financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value, which is usually considered to 
be the transaction price (consideration given). Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured based on their classification.  

 
The classifications are as follows:  
 
Financial instruments Classification and measurement 
Cash  Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
Investments  Financial assets at amortized cost 
Accounts receivable  Financial assets at amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

 
Impairment of financial assets 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired using a single 
forward-looking expected credit loss model. Any adjustment to the carrying value of the financial asset is recorded in the statement 
of comprehensive income. As at 31 March 2022, the Centre had no impairment of financial assets.  
 
Financial instruments risks 
 
The principal risks to which the Centre is exposed as a result of holding financial instruments are credit risk, market risk and liquidity 
risk. The Centre has various financial instruments such as cash, investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities which arise from operations. 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will default on its obligations to the Centre, resulting in financial 
losses. The Centre is exposed to credit risk since it has investments and extends credit to its recipients and donors in the normal 
course of business. The maximum exposure is represented by cash, investments and accounts receivable amounts disclosed on the 
Centre’s statement of financial position. The Centre does not use credit derivatives or similar instruments to mitigate risk, and, as 
such, the maximum exposure is the full carrying value or face value of the financial asset. The Centre minimizes credit risk on cash by 
depositing the cash only with a reputable and high-quality financial institution. Credit risk associated with accounts receivable is 
considered by management to be minimal since most receivables are due from Canadian government entities. Credit risk associated 
with donor receivables is considered low by management since most receivables are due from Canadian or foreign government 
entities that have contracted with the Centre. The Centre’s investment policy sets out guidelines that define the minimally 
acceptable counterparty credit ratings pertaining to investments. Investments in financial institutions and corporations must have 
minimum ratings from two external rating agencies that are equivalent to DBRS ratings for short-term instruments of R1L for 
governments and Schedule I banks and R1M for Schedule II banks and corporations. DBRS ratings for medium/long-term 
instruments must hold a minimum rating of A (Low) for governments, AA (Low) for Schedule I banks, A (Low) for Schedule II banks 
and corporations. The Centre regularly reviews the credit ratings of issuers with whom the Centre holds investments and confers 
with the Vice-President, Resources and Chief Financial Officer when the issuer’s credit rating declines below the policy guidelines. 
The investment policy is reviewed and approved as required by the Finance and Audit Committee of the Board of Governors. These 
policies and procedures are designed to manage and limit the credit risk associated with these financial instruments. 
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Concentrations of credit risk 
 
The Centre’s exposure to credit risk is summarized as follows: 
 

        DBRS rating  31 March 2022     31 March 2021 
        

Federal  R1H/AAA 32 997   —  
Provincial  A+ to AA+ 10 257   —  
Corporate  A- to AA+ 15 962   —  
Municipal  A+ 904   —  

   60 120   —  
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk is comprised of three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Centre is exposed to 
potential losses as a result of movements in interest and foreign exchange rates. 

 
Currency risk 
Currency risk is the potential adverse impact of foreign exchange rate movements on the fair value or future cash flows of financial 
instruments. The Centre has exposure to currency risk in part from the local operating costs of five regional offices throughout the 
world. The Centre does not hedge its regional office expenses against fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and accepts the 
operational and financial risks associated with any such fluctuations that are not considered to be significant.   

 
The Centre has multi-year contribution agreements with non-Canadian donors that are denominated in currencies other than the 
Canadian dollar. When progress payments are received from those donors, they are translated as described in Note 20. In turn, the 
Centre incurs expenses and issues multi-year grant agreements denominated in Canadian dollars. The Centre manages its currency 
risk on these activities by setting aside a portion of the donor contribution agreement funding to absorb exchange gains and losses. 
The magnitude of the funding set aside is gauged against actual currency fluctuations on a yearly basis, with additions made only 
when needed and releases made only toward the end of the agreement, when no longer required. The Centre does not hedge its 
foreign currency revenues against fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and accepts the operational and financial risks associated 
with any such fluctuations that, on a financial year basis, are not considered to be significant.  

 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates. The Centre is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates on its investments as this would affect the fair value of the 
instruments. Management intends to hold these instruments until maturity, collecting contractual cash flows over the term of the 
investment and mitigating exposure to fair value changes. The Centre’s interest rate risk is not considered significant. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk can 
arise from mismatched cash flows related to assets and liabilities. The corporate treasury function is responsible for the Centre’s 
liquidity management. This risk is managed by monitoring forecasted and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. The Centre may also hold investments in marketable securities readily convertible to cash to ensure 
that sufficient liquidity can be made available to meet forecasted cash requirements. Given the timing of receipts and payments, the 
Centre’s exposure to liquidity risk is not significant. 
 
 

20. Foreign currency translation 

Accounting policy 
Transactions in currencies other than the Centre’s functional currency are recognized at rates in effect at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian 
dollars using the exchange rate at that date. Exchange gains and losses are recognized in other income in the period in which they 
arise. Non-monetary items are measured at historical cost and are not revalued. The Centre does not actively hedge against foreign 
currency fluctuations.  
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21. Supplemental Cash Flow Information  
 

 31 March 2022     31 March 2021 
    

Interest charges on lease obligations 
Interest received from bank deposits  
Interest received from investments 

330    
— 

 147 

 420 
25 
— 

 
The change in accounts receivables and prepaid expenses excludes an amount of $11.7 million (31 March 2021: $1.8 million), as the 
amount relates to deferred revenue. 
 
The change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities excludes an amount of $0.5 million (31 March 2021: nil), as the amount relates 
to acquisition of property and equipment, within investing activities. 
 
 

22. Comparative Figures 
 
The Centre revised the groupings of items included within the enhancing research capabilities and corporate and administrative 
services expense categories. This new presentation is a result of the changes to the organization that culminated in the responsibility 
for corporate services being centralized to head office from the regions and to be in line with the Strategy 2030 ambition of being fit 
for purpose adopted by the Centre in late 2020–2021. It affected the Statement of Comprehensive Income and note 15, Schedule of 
Expenses. Prior year figures were reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation with the net result of $2 044 of enhancing 
research capabilities expenses being reclassified to corporate and administrative services expenses. The 31 March 2021 enhancing 
research capabilities is $38 204 compared to $40 248 before the reclassification and the corporate and administrative services 
expenses is $21 015 compared to $18 971 before the reclassification. 
 
The Centre also changed the method of presentation of the Statement of Cash Flows from the direct method to the indirect method. 
This resulted in a reclassification of line-item descriptions and balances within the operating activities section of the Statement of 
Cash Flows. Certain comparative figures for 2021 were reclassified to conform to the 2022 presentation. This change had no impact 
on the total amounts presented in the comparative figures for cash and did not impact any other statements or note disclosures.  
Management has concluded that the indirect method results in more relevant and reliable information about the Centre’s cash flows 
and a more practical approach to derive and present cash flows from operating activities based on the nature of the Centre’s 
business activities and financial accounting system. 
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idrc.ca

Follow us

Subscribe to IDRC’s online Bulletin: idrc.ca/subscribe 
IDRC’s Digital Library: https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect.org 
Library reference desk: researchsupport@idrc.ca 
General information: info@idrc.ca

Head Office 
International Development Research Centre 
PO Box 8500, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9 
(mailing address) 
150 Kent Street, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1P 0B2 
Phone: +1 613-236-6163 
Fax: +1 613-238-7230 
Email: info@idrc.ca

Latin America and the Caribbean 
Latin America and the Caribbean Regional Office 
Juncal 1385 Piso 14, 11.000 Montevideo, Uruguay 
Phone: +598 2915 0492 
Fax: +598 2915 0881 
Email: lacro@idrc.ca

Africa 
Eastern and Southern Africa Regional Office 
PO Box 62084 00200, Nairobi, Kenya 
Eaton Place, 3rd floor 
United Nations Crescent, Gigiri, Nairobi, Kenya 
Phone: +254 20 2713 160/61 
Fax: +254 20 2711 063 
Email: esaro@idrc.ca

West and Central Africa Regional Office 
PO Box 25121 CP 10700 Dakar Fann 
Immeuble 2K Plaza 
Route des Almadies 
Dakar, Senegal 
Phone: +221 33 820 24 94 
Email: waroinfo@idrc.ca

Middle East and North Africa Regional Office 
PO Box 851527 
Zahran Gate Complex – Suite 302 
25 Ismael Haqqi Abdo Street 
Intersection of Queen Alia Airport Road 
and Queen Zain al-Sharaf Street 
Al Dyar District, 11185, Amman, Jordan 
Phone: 00962(0)6 582 8303 
Email: mero@idrc.ca

Asia 
Asia Regional Office 
208 Jor Bagh, New Delhi 110003, India 
Phone: +91 11 2461 9411 
Fax: +91 11 2462 2707

https://www.facebook.com/IDRC.CRDI
https://twitter.com/IDRC_CRDI?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://www.youtube.com/user/idrccrdi
https://ca.linkedin.com/company/idrc



